

Organic Farming for HEALTH and PROSPERITY August 2012



August 2012

Contents:

Introduction	3
Findings: Organic Farming Systems Benefit the Environment, Human Health,	
and National Prosperity	13
Organic Farming Improves Soil and Water Quality	13
Organic Farming Enhances Biodiversity and Pollinator Health	18
Organic Farming Sequesters More Carbon, Slowing Climate Change	22
Organic Farming Reduces Toxic Chemical Exposure	25
Organic Food Can Feed the World	28
Organic is a Vital Sector in the U.S. Economy	31
Organic Farming Increases Farmers' Sales and Profits	33
Organic Farming Strengthens Job Growth in the Agricultural Sector	35
Summary of the Findings	36
Policies to Support Organic Expansion	37
Priority #1: Increase Funding for Organic Farming Research	38
Priority #2: Provide Fair and Appropriate Insurance Options for	
Risk Management	39
Priority #3: Promote Government Procurement of Organic Food	41
Priority #4: Create a Robust Organic Transition Assistance Program	42
Priority #5: Create Environmental Markets	43
Priority #6: Improve Conservation Programs	45
Appendix A: Organic Research Priorities	46
The Organic Farming Path Forward	54
Appendix B: References Consulted	56
Further Reading	68
About Organic Farming Research Foundation	71
Acknowledgments	71
About the Authors	72

ORGANIC FARMING FOR HEALTH & PROSPERITY

Introduction

Rising health care costs, unemployment, an economy struggling to recover from the ongoing recession, environmental degradation and the need to address climate change are among the most serious problems facing the United States today. The release of Organic Farming for Health and Prosperity comes as our nation grapples with these urgent needs and offers some solutions to help ease those significant problems.

Organic Farming for Health & Prosperity is a review of North American scientific literature concerning organic farming in the United States and Canada. The report examines the multitude of benefits that organic agriculture can provide and identifies the key ways in which agricultural policies in the United States could support organic farmers.

The scientific literature shows that organic farming practices build soil quality, maintain water quality,

support biodiversity, and have potential to mitigate global climate change while supporting an economic bright spot. Organic farming is comprised of an integrated suite of practices that provide these benefits in addition to producing food, fiber and feed. Studies conducted over the past decade have called for the agricultural industry to be responsive to changing climate and environmental conditions. None of these studies, however, has focused primarily on organic farming. **Organic Farming for Health & Prosperity** was drafted to help fill that void.

To compile the report, the authors reviewed the scientific literature for research on organic farming in the United States and Canada since the year 2000. Research papers published in





peer-reviewed academic journals comprised the primary sources of information, along with reports from the US Department of Agriculture and the Rodale Institute. Where peer-reviewed literature on a given topic was non-existent or difficult to find, additional sources, including organizations associated with the United Nations, the Organic Trade Association, and the Organic Center are cited.

When the scientific literature is reviewed as a whole, it's easy to see that organic farming practices are good for human health, economic prosperity, the environment and for slowing climate change. Healthy soil, which organic farming enhances, is the basis of a healthy nation. Despite the obvious benefits, several key challenges have slowed the growth of organic agriculture. Increasing public awareness of the value of organic farming, implementing public policy changes that support organic growers and conducting research to advance the industry are essential in overcoming the challenges of organic agriculture. Additional research is imperative to fill the gaps in the scientific understanding of the benefits of organic farming.

For many of you who are active in the organic industry, this report provides information you can use to educate consumers and retailers and provide people additional reasons, beyond their personal health, to invest in organic. We anticipate that it will provide food for thought for others who are considering getting involved in and/or investing in organic farms and businesses. Another key goal of the report is to educate government officials and policymakers about the myriad of benefits organic provides. We believe it's time that the benefits of organic agriculture are acknowledged by the public at large.

A new unified policy to support organic farmers and the organic food industry is imperative. Over the past decade, modest public resources have been directed toward organic farming in the form Federal statute defines organic farming as "A production system that is managed in accordance with the (national organic standards) to respond to sitespecific conditions by integrating cultural, biological, and mechanical practices that foster cycling of resources, promote ecological balance, and conserve biodiversity."¹



of funding for research and data collection, funding to offset certification costs, enforcement of organic standards, and an initiative to ensure fair and equal access to conservation programs for organic farmers. The resources allocated to date, however, are still far short of the investment needed to realize the great potential of organic farming. **Organic Farming for Health & Prosperity** recommends elements of an integrated, unified policy that will further organic agriculture and support the multiple advantages it provides to society.

About Organic Farming

What is organic farming and why is it important? Organic farming is agriculture that makes healthy food, healthy soils, healthy plants and healthy environments a priority along with crop productivity. Organic farmers use biological fertilizer inputs and management practices such as cover cropping and crop rotation to improve soil quality and build soil organic matter. By increasing the amount of organic matter in the soil, as nature does on a forest floor, organic farmers enhance the soil's ability to absorb water, reducing the impacts of droughts and flooding. Improving soil organic matter also helps it to absorb and store carbon and other nutrients needed to grow healthy crops which, in turn, are better able to resist insects and diseases.

Organic foods command premium prices in the United States and safeguards are in place to ensure that consumers are getting the quality products they are paying for. Farmers and food processors must meet strict regulations to gain organic certification and the right to use the phrase "organic" on their packaging and in their marketing. Only agricultural products that are certified as meeting the national organic standards implemented under the U.S. Department of Agriculture's (USDA) National Organic Program qualify. To gain certification, organic farms and processing facilities must submit an organic system plan each year to a certifying agent. The plan documents all of their production practices, each substance or input that will be used, and their record-keeping practices. A farm's organic system plan is a comprehensive document that describes all aspects of its management including the source of the seeds to be used, proposed crop plantings, livestock management practices, the farm's proximity to potential sources of contamination and steps taken to avoid it and weed and pest control practices. Farmers must document that they maintain accurate records so that each crop can be tracked back to the field where it was grown.

Each certified organic farm and processing facility undergoes an annual inspection to verify that they are meeting the standards. Organic inspectors typically walk the farm with the producer, checking the crops and the outbuildings, ensuring no synthetic herbicides or pesticides are present, and verifying sales paperwork. Organic farmers must demonstrate their growing practices maintain or improve the soil, water, wetlands, woodlands, and wildlife in and around their farms. Organic farmers must show they rotate their crops to build the soil, minimize erosion and enhance biodiversity in and around their fields.

Organic standards specifically prohibit the use of numerous substances including genetically modified organisms (GMOs), food irradiation, synthetic pesticides, antibiotics and hormones in animal production and the application of sewage sludge.



Converting a farm to organic is a multi-year process. To gain organic certification, farmers must prove that no prohibited substances have been used on the farm for at least three years, reducing the chance that the farm has residual contamination of crops, soil or water.

Organic farmers are required to maintain buffer zones between organic farmland and adjacent potential sources of water, chemical

or genetic drift to prevent their crops from being contaminated by actions taken on nearby farms. Organic farmers may not sell crops grown in buffer zones as organic. To obtain organic certification for livestock and poultry production, producers must show that they raise their animals in ways that are compatible with the animals' natural needs and behaviors. Producers must provide all animals with outdoor access for freedom of movement. All ruminants must be grazed on pasture during the grazing season so that their diet is comprised of a minimum 30% pasture. This is important because grazing on grass and having access to sunshine and fresh air enhances the health and longevity of organically raised dairy cows and improves the quality of their milk.²

Organic livestock production prohibits the use of animal byproducts in feed and bans the use of hormones and antibiotics. Withholding medical treatment to a sick animal in order to maintain its organic status is illegal. Any animal to which antibiotics have been administered cannot be sold as organic, nor can its products.

Organic production continues to be one of the fastest growing sectors of the U.S. food system. Sales of organic food and non-food products were \$31.5 billion in 2011, a 9.5% increase from 2010 sales.³ In contrast, sales of comparable non-organic products increased only 4.7% in 2011.⁴ Prior to the economic downturn, the growth of organic food sales showed annual increases averaging 19%.⁵ Organic food now represents 4.2% of all food sales in the U.S.⁶

The vital and growing organic sector is supported by the production of over 17,000 certified organic

operations⁷ farming over 4.1 million acres of land. The most recent data available document that total organic farmgate sales reached \$3.16 billion in 2008.⁸



In addition to being economically attractive, certified organic practices have been shown to provide multiple benefits to soil, water and biological diversity **(Table 1).**

Organic Farming Practice	Environmental Benefits
Crop rotation	Enhances soil quality, disrupts weed, insect, and disease life cycles, sequesters carbon and nitrogen, diversifies production (can have market benefits)
Manure, compost, green manure use	Enhances soil quality, sequesters carbon, recycles nutrients, and contributes to pro- ductivity
Cover cropping	Enhances soil quality, reduces erosion, se- questers carbon and provides nitrogen, pre- vents dust (protects air quality), improves soil nutrients, contributes to productivity
Avoidance of synthetic fertilizers	Avoids contamination of surface and ground waters, enhances soil quality, se- questers carbon, mitigates salinization (in many cases)
Avoidance of synthetic pesticides	Enhances biodiversity, improves water qual- ity, enhances soil quality, prevents disrup- tion of pollinators, reduces costs of chemi- cal inputs
Planting habitat corridors, borders, and/or insectaries	Enhances biodiversity, supports biological pest management, provides wildlife habitat
Buffer areas	Improves water quality, enhances biodiver- sity, prevents wind erosion

Table 1: Select key organic farming practices and their benefits.

Who Benefits from Organic Farming?

The benefits of organic farming are widespread and important to multiple sectors of society. Organic foods can help protect what's most valuable to people--their health. Eating a healthy diet rich in antioxidants, vitamins and minerals is a solid investment in preventative care. Preventing disease is much more cost efficient than treating disease. Organic foods can play an important role in keeping people healthy.

In addition to the health benefits, the organic industry is important in many other ways.

For investors, the organic agricultural sector is one of the few sectors with consistent growth over the last decade. During the current economic downturn, the growth of the organic industry has outpaced the food industry as a whole.

Organic products are increasingly important to consumers who are committed to reducing their carbon footprints and their impacts on the environment. More and more people are making their purchasing decisions based, at least partially, on environmental considerations.

For families, organic products are important in protecting and enhancing the health of their children. Young bodies in particular are more susceptible to the impacts of pesticides, fungicides and other synthetic chemicals used in nonorganically grown fruits and vegetables. So many parents are willing to pay a premium for organic products that the term "gatekeeper moms" has become part of the industry lexicon.



For educators, the many economic, health and environmental benefits of organic farming offer opportunities to integrate organic farming practices into their agricultural programs to attract students. Demand for organic foods and materials such as cotton for clothing is strong and projected to increase in the near term. It is imperative that future farmers be trained in organic practices. For environmental advocates, organic farming provides numerous benefits to the environment. Because they use diversified cropping systems and don't use synthetic pesticides, organic farms support biodiversity. Organic farming practices are also proven to be good for soil quality, water quality and retention and slowing climate change because they build organic matter in the soil. Organic matter helps hold water in the soil, reducing runoff, and sequesters carbon.

For ocean advocates, organic farming has great potential to reduce the "dead zone" that forms each year in the Gulf of Mexico. Organic farming reduces the amount of fertilizer that leaches into ground and surface waters. These nutrients, most of which arise from non-organic farming practices,



stimulate uncontrolled microbial growth which depletes the oxygen in larger bodies of water (hypoxia), causing die-offs of other aquatic organisms.

For clean water advocates, organic farming practices protect water quality by using biological forms of fertilizers that release nutrients slowly, reducing nitrate leaching into ground and surface waters.

Many climate change scientists and policy experts recognize that organic farming helps mitigate the threat of global warming by sequestering carbon and reducing greenhouse gas emissions from energy-intensive chemical fertilizers.

For farmers, organic farming is profitable because organic foods are in demand, and as a result of the price premiums they receive.⁹ The organic industry has grown from \$3.6 billion in 1997¹⁰ to \$31.5 billion in 2011.¹¹ In 2008, organic farmers reported average sales per farm

being \$82,868 more than the sales documented from all farms in the 2007 Census.¹²

For communities, organic agriculture provides economic benefits by expanding employment opportunities within the industry. The latest data indicate that 78% of organic farmers planned to maintain or increase their organic production over the next five years.¹³

By the end of 2011, 17,281 farms and processing facilities in the United States were certified to the USDA organic standards.¹⁴ This represents a 140% increase in the number of certified organic enterprises since 2002, when the federal organic standards were implemented.

For consumers, sharing the rich flavors of foods grown without the use of chemicals, there is evidence that some organic foods have higher levels of certain vitamins, antioxidants, and flavonoids, though much more research is needed in this important area of human health.



All of these elements come together as we seek to protect our health, the health of our families, the prosperity of communities and our environment.

WHAT NEEDS TO BE DONE

It's time the many benefits of organic agriculture are acknowledged by more members of the public, lawmakers, businesses, and all aspects of society. A new unified policy to support organic farmers and the organic food industry is needed. Over the past decade, modest public resources have been directed toward organic farming to fund research and data collection, offset small percentages of certification costs, enforce organic standards and ensure fair access to conservation programs for farmers. The resources allocated to date, however, are a small fraction of the investment needed to realize organic farming's tremendous potential. Organic Farming for Health & Prosperity recommends elements of an integrated, unified policy to promote organic agriculture and support the multiple advantages it provides.

Now is the time to change our country's current agricultural policies which do relatively little to support organic farmers, and, in some cases, work against their interests. The Farm Bill is due to be reconfigured and reauthorized before the end of 2012. As the primary instrument of agricultural policy in the United States, the 2012 Farm Bill presents a unique opportunity to legislate in favor of the growth of organic agriculture, to better meet organic consumer demand and economic competitive positioning. Increasing the role of organic farming presents a three-fold challenge that Organic Farming Research Foundation is committed to meeting: increasing public awareness of the value of organic farming, building organic champions in Congress and federal agencies and conducting research to arrive at necessary technological advances. If the nation is to have a sustainable food supply well into the future, organic farming must become the leading form of agriculture. In addition to the demonstrated benefits to soil and water, organic farming has proven benefits to human health, to the nation's economic prosperity and to the health of the planet. A review of the research finds:

- Organic Farming Improves Soil and Water Quality
- Organic Farming Enhances Biodiversity and Pollinator Health
- Organic Farming Sequesters More Carbon, Slowing Climate Change
- Organic Farming Reduces Toxic Chemical Exposure
- Organic Food Can Feed the World
- Organic is a Vital Sector in the US Economy
- Organic Farming Increases Farmers' Sales
 and Profits
- Organic Farming Strengthens Job Growth in the Agricultural Sector

Currently there are more than 17,000 certified organic farmers in the United States and demand for organic foods is rising. Despite modest growth in the number of U.S. organic farmers, serious organic supply shortages have emerged in many food sectors over the last decade and additional organic farmers are needed to meet projected market demand.¹⁵ We can, and should, work to ensure our nation's needs are met and that more people can access healthy food grown in sustainable ways while protecting the environment.

Despite the benefits, significant obstacles remain. **Organic Farming for Health & Prosperity** has identified six policy recommendations for removing some of these obstacles by implementing a wide range of relatively low-cost or no-cost changes to the current agricultural system. These modifications include adopting new insurance options to better serve organic farmers, increased funding for organic farming research, reforming regulations, adopting new market incentives, providing assistance to farmers transitioning to organic farming and expanding environmental markets.

Findings: Organic Farming Systems Benefit the Environment, Human Health, and National Prosperity

The research is clear: Organic farming provides numerous benefits for people and the planet. Although our findings show that more money needs to be allocated for organic research, here's what we do know:

"A nation that destroys its soil, destroys itself." - Franklin D. Roosevelt

Organic Farming Improves Soil and Water Quality

Soil scientists and cultural historians have made a convincing case that civilizations rise or fall based on how they manage their soil.¹⁶ Unfortunately, history is marked by human failure to properly manage soil. When native vegetation in prairie or forest ecosystems is removed and the soils cultivated, there is an immediate decline in the amount of organic matter in the soil due to increased erosion and stimulation of microbial activity.¹⁷

Any discussion of farming must include both the availability and quality of water. Farming relies on access to adequate supplies of clean water. And farming practices in turn directly impact the health and quality of our waterways and oceans.

Why is Soil Organic Matter Important?

Soil organic matter is defined as "waste, residue and metabolites from plants, animals, and microbes" (Soil and Water Conservation Society 2000). Soil scientists have identified many functions performed by soil organic matter including energy transfer between micro-organisms, nutrient cycling, and influencing soil structure (Grandy and Robertson 2007; Marriott and Wander 2006).

The quality and quantity of organic matter that accumulates is influenced by fertilizer source (see Marriott and Wander 2006, Drinkwater et al. 1998). The organic practices of using crop rotations and biological sources of fertilizer build soil organic matter which holds both water and nutrients in the soil (see e.g. Snapp et al. 2010, Kong et al. 2007).

The ability of soil to accumulate soil organic matter is a direct reflection of its ability to sequester carbon. Increases in soil organic carbon under organic management have significant implications for the potential of organic farming to help mitigate global climate change. Organic farming practices can improve soil and water quality. Crucial soil functions such as water-holding capacity, soil microbial activity, and nutrient cycling are strongly influenced by the structure of the soil, particularly the degree to which it forms soil aggregates.¹⁸ Without aggregate formation, soil erodes easily via wind or rain as happened in the Great Plains during the historic Dust Bowl.

Aggregates and the pore spaces in between them are key components of the soil microbial habitat. The size of aggregates affects soil aeration and drainage.

Excessive tillage and the use of synthetic materials--including fertilizers, pesticides, and fumigants-destroy soil structure and interfere with microbial and root exudates that help hold soil particles together. Additionally, use of synthetic nitrogen fertilizers has been implicated in reducing the amount of organic carbon and nitrogen that is sequestered by the soil.¹⁹

Declines in soil quality can be reversed by careful management and implementation of soil-building

practices such as those used by organic farmers. Crop rotation, growing cover crops, and using composted and raw animal manures are common organic practices that build soil quality, enhance

microbial activity, and cycle the nutrients needed to produce high quality crops and forages. Those practices also improve the health of organic crops. There is a small but telling body of research in the United States that suggests that improved soil quality increases the ability of crops to withstand or repel insect attack²⁰ and plant disease.²¹



Organic Farming Builds Soil Organic Matter

A large body of organic soil quality data comes from long-term systems comparison trials across the U.S., including studies in Pennsylvania, Michigan, California, Iowa, North Carolina, Maryland, Wisconsin, Washington, and Minnesota. These studies found that the most characteristic changes under organic management were increased levels of soil organic matter and increased microbial activity, even when the soil was subjected to routine tillage.²² A study that analyzed samples from nine U.S. farming systems trials found that organic management increased particulate organic matter carbon by 30% and particulate organic matter nitrogen by 40% compared to non-organic controls.²³

Increases in soil organic matter under organic management were also found in shorter-term studies including a two-year corn-tomato rotation in Maryland and Virginia,²⁴ a two-year study of strawberry-vegetable production in California,²⁵ and a three-year study on various horticultural crops grown in North Carolina.²⁶

Organic Farming Reduces Nitrate Leaching into Waterways

One of the most widely known impacts of agriculture on water quality is fertilizer leaching into groundwater and runoff, causing off-site hypoxia including the well-known "dead zone" which forms each year in the Gulf of Mexico.²⁷ Both nitrogen and phosphorus stimulate algal growth and contribute to hypoxia when they pollute waters downstream. Only about 50% of applied conventional fertilizers are taken up by crops; approximately 30-40% is leached into ground and surface waters and the rest is lost into the atmosphere.²⁸

Organic farming practices build soil organic matter which retains nutrients in the soil longer, releasing them slowly over time. Slow nutrient release allows nitrogen to be absorbed by crops before leaching below the root zone. Longterm organic management has been found in numerous studies to decrease nitrate leaching from soils.²⁹ The most recent data, from a 12-year



study in Michigan, shows that fields under organic management had half the annual nitrate leaching losses than fields under non-organic management.³⁰

A modeling study that compared nitrogen exports into Lake Michigan under different scenarios found organic farming to be the only land management scenario that would reduce, rather than increase, nitrogen loading into the water.³¹

Researchers at Washington State University found that, after nine years of organic management, nitrogen losses to groundwater and to the atmosphere were far lower in organic orchards than non-organic orchards.³² Annual nitrate leaching from non-organic plots was 4.4–5.6 times greater than in organic plots. In this study, organically farmed soils also exhibited higher levels of organic matter and greater microbial activity.³³

Organically managed soils are not immune to nitrate leaching. Cover crop incorporation, animal manure, and compost applications must be carefully timed with crop uptake and soil biological activity to avoid losses from the system.³⁴ Evanylo et al. found that compost, poultry litter and inorganic fertilizer in an organic vegetable system leached comparable levels of nitrate past the tillage zone.³⁵ Compost N was not released in time for sweet corn uptake and would have posed a leaching risk without planting a winter rye "scavenger" crop to take up the excess N.³⁶ Some of the Rodale data document nitrate leaching under organic management.³⁷ This is clearly an area that requires more research.

Organic Farming Contributes to Better Water Quality

As agriculture is dependent upon water availability, agricultural practices in turn impact water quality. Research has shown that organic farming contributes to cleaner water by using biological fertilizers that release nutrients slowly, build soil organic matter, increase soil water-holding capacity and reduce leaching of nitrates into groundwater. Ground and surface waters are too often contaminated by pesticides, fertilizers and animal wastes that are not absorbed by plants or soil. In the United States, 64% of measured lake acres and 44% of stream miles are impaired; they no longer support one or more of their designated uses such as swimming or fishing.³⁸ The synthetic herbicides, pesticides, fungicides and fertilizers used in non-organic farming also seep into drinking water supplies, posing a variety of threats to human health.

Organic farming does not contaminate water to the degree that non-organic practices do because certified organic farmers do not use synthetic pesticides or highly soluble synthetic fertilizers. Under federal law, organic farmers must utilize "production practices (that) maintain or improve the natural resources of the operation, including soil and water quality."³⁹ No other farmers in the U.S. are held to this standard.

Organic Farming Increases the Ability of Soil to Hold Water for Crop Use

Water availability is a particular concern around the globe as rainfall patterns have become increasingly unpredictable and groundwater use accelerates.⁴⁰ Scarcity of clean, usable water is likely to become the largest problem facing global agricultural production in the near future.



Organic agriculture has an advantage in this regard: many of the long-term systems studies that documented increased soil organic matter under organic management also consistently measured greater water holding capacity in organically managed soils.⁴¹

In studying water found in drainage tiles installed to drain excess water from fields, University of Minnesota researchers discovered that organic farming reduced the amount of water lost in drainage tiles by 41% and reduced nitrate-nitrogen levels in the water by 60%.⁴² Similarly, a 3-year study in Virginia investigating compost, poultry litter, and inorganic fertilizer effects on soil and water quality found that a high rate of compost increased runoff concentrations of nitrogen and phosphorus but reduced overall amount of nutrients transported because of reduction in runoff volume.⁴³

As President Franklin Roosevelt so wisely said, a nation that destroys its soil destroys itself. Isn't it time we begin rebuilding our nation by rebuilding our soil through organic farming?⁴⁴

ORGANIC FARMING ENHANCES BIODIVERSITY AND POLLINATOR HEALTH *Biological diversity is critical for the health of an environment.*

In agriculture, both above- and below-ground diverse biological communities are important in providing genetic diversity for crops and livestock and maintaining well-functioning, productive agroecosystems. "Ecosystem services" refers to a multitude of functions that are provided by well-structured ecosystems. These include atmospheric and climate regulation, water purification and cycling, soil formation and nutrient fixation and cycling.⁴⁵ Collectively, ecosystem services and the resource base that supports them has been estimated to be worth on average \$33 trillion annually.⁴⁶ The value of pollination and control of crop insect pests provided by native insects in the U.S. was



estimated to be worth at least \$10.6 billion per year.⁴⁷ Certified organic farmers in the United States are required to "conserve biodiversity" on their farms.⁴⁸ Because of their reliance on diversified cropping systems, organic farms support larger populations of beneficial organisms such as songbirds and pollinators than non-organic farms. Organic farms support diverse populations of native bees that pollinate crops, balanced populations of beneficial insects that help keep crop pests under control, and an array of soil macro- and microorganisms that decompose dead and waste materials and recycle nutrients.

Organic farming supports diverse insect populations largely by prohibiting the use of synthetic pesticides. While certain pesticides derived from natural sources are allowed in certified organic production, growers are required to utilize conservation practices before they resort to using those materials. Additionally, any pesticides used in organic agriculture must be shown to "not be harmful to human health or the environment." ⁴⁹

Organic Farming Enhances Pollinator Populations

Ongoing work to quantify the contribution of pollinator services to agriculture is being conducted by researchers at the University of California - Berkeley. Highly complex pollinator relationships revealed in one study found that native bee populations supported 50-100% of the pollination needs for a watermelon crop on organic farms and none of the pollination needs on non-organic farms, which required supplemental pollination from honey bees.⁵⁰ The study also noted that the proximity

of a field to natural habitat was a factor in influencing native pollinator services, regardless of whether the field was organically or non-organically managed.

A Canadian study showed that organic canola fields in Northern Alberta, Canada, were found to have greater abundance of native bee communities than non-organic fields, which in turn had more native bees than fields planted to GMO canola.⁵¹



Organic Farming Enhances Bird and Beneficial Spider Populations



A two-year study in Nebraska found that fields on organic farms had both more birds and more bird species than were found on non-organic farms,⁵² while Florida research found that the practice of intercropping sunflower into organic vegetable fields increased "incidence, abundance, and foraging activity" by insect-eating native birds.⁵³

A study of apple orchards in Washington comparing synthetic, broad-spectrum pesticides with organic management showed the total arboreal and understory spider populations were significantly higher in the organic

orchards.⁵⁴ The authors conclude "spider populations may be severely reduced by even a small number of synthetic, broad-spectrum insecticide applications and the time required for recovery may be lengthy."⁵⁵

Organic Farming Enhances Natural Enemy Populations

One important organic strategy for managing crop pests is to enhance populations of non-pest insects, or "natural enemies," that prey on crop pests. Numerous studies have focused on utilizing floral hedgerows or corridors on the edges of or within organic fields. One study in an organic vineyard in California found that flowering corridors, planted with locally adapted species with sequential flowering periods, can increase biodiversity by attracting an abundant diversity of natural enemies.⁵⁶

The California Sustainable Winegrowing Alliance assessed the existence of biodiversity and habitat protection in five vineyards in Mendocino and Sonoma counties in 2007. Four of the five sites were certified organic and all had habitat corridors or riparian vegetation. None of the vineyards that relied on vegetation management experienced major pest damage, and all had abundant populations of beneficial insects.⁵⁷

A study of insect community structure and crop damage on organic and non-organic fresh market tomato farms in California found that there was no significant difference in fruit or leaf damage between the farming systems.⁵⁸ There was higher natural enemy abundance and greater species richness of all groups of insects on organic than nonorganic farms, meaning that crop pests would encounter more potential predators on organic than on non-organic farms.⁵⁹

A paper published in 2010 found that natural enemy species were distributed evenly across an organic landscape, as opposed to being numerically dominated by any one species.⁶⁰ The researchers also conducted a meta-analysis of the literature and found that most scientific evidence shows a significantly greater evenness in organic than in non-organic fields.⁶¹ They conducted an experiment that manipulated levels of evenness in the field and found that increasing natural enemy evenness "triggered a powerful trophic cascade beneficial to plants and harmful to herbivores [pests]". Even distribution of both pest and natural enemy species was correlated with larger plant size and potato tuber yield. The authors point to the need for more studies comparing "pest-control intensity and effects of natural enemy evenness in organic and non-organic fields."⁶²

Most of the work documenting the impacts of organic farming on various animal species to date has been published in Europe. Hole et al. conducted a qualitative review of the European literature comparing biodiversity in organic and non-organic farming systems.⁶³ Most of the studies indicated that species abundance and richness was higher on organic than on non-organic farms for a wide range of species.

More than just the birds and the bees benefit from organic farming. When the health of an environment is improved, all living beings benefit.



Organically Resilient

Organic farming practices that improve soil structure, water-holding capacity, and nutrient cycling will be more resilient in the face of climatic extremes. Maintaining vegetative cover throughout the year--whether under pasture, forage, or cover crops--is key. Iowa State researchers, for example, found that perennial crops absorbed 5-7 times the precipitation as corn or soybeans during the first hour of rainfall (Bharati et al. 2002). Researchers at the Rodale Farming Systems Trial found that the organic plots were productive even in years of extreme drought (Lotter et al. 2009).

ORGANIC FARMING SEQUESTERS MORE CARBON, SLOWING CLIMATE CHANGE

Scientists have documented that human activity is responsible for unprecedented levels of greenhouse gases in the atmosphere that trap heat and contribute to global climate change.⁶⁴ Emissions of carbon dioxide (CO2), nitrous oxide (N2O), and methane (CH4)--the three main greenhouse gases released by humans--have increased more than 70% in the last 30 years.⁶⁵

Scientists are expressing a sense of urgency about the need to mitigate release of greenhouse gases before catastrophic changes occur in the world's environment.⁶⁶ Global climate change is already increasing the frequency and intensity of droughts, floods, heat waves, and major storms.⁶⁷ The

destabilized climate is affecting crop production and water availability, causing hunger, malnutrition, and social unrest worldwide.

Evidence shows that, not only will organic farms fare better under climate change, the practice of organic farming slows the impact of climate change.



Organic Farming Stores Carbon

While there are ultimately physical limits to the amount of carbon that can be stored in the soil, organic farming systems--particularly those with lengthy, diversified rotations⁶⁸ and those that integrate crop and livestock production⁶⁹ --can play a significant role in helping capture carbon. The world's soils, if managed carefully, could capture an estimated 5 - 15% of global emissions released by burning fossil fuels, or 0.4-1.2 billion tons of carbon per year.⁷⁰

Time and again, field studies show that organic farming stores carbon in the soil even when routine tillage is utilized for weed control.⁷¹

Organic Farming Can Reduce Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Meaningful estimates of greenhouse gas emissions from any given agricultural system are difficult to achieve: it is a technical challenge to take direct measurements of emissions from the field, and an accurate accounting of emissions must consider both direct and indirect sources of emissions. (Direct emissions arise from the farming practices themselves, while indirect sources are the amount of

greenhouse gases generated in manufacture of inputs used on the farm.) Despite the multiple factors that must be considered when generating accurate greenhouse gas budgets for any given system, recent studies are documenting that net release of greenhouse gases is negative from organically-managed soils.⁷³

Table 2 presents soil carbon (C), nitrous oxide (N2O) flux, energy use, and emissions per unit of yield data from the longterm cropping systems trial conducted by the Agricultural Research Service of USDA in Beltsville, Maryland. These factors were integrated into a single measurement, the global warming potential. Global warming potential is calculated by adding together all sources of emissions and sequestrations The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change has offered recommendations for adapting agriculture to mitigate climate change by increasing soil carbon storage which include many practices routinely used by organic farmers:

- Reduced reliance on synthetic fertilizers and pesticides
- Using legumes and perennials in crop rotations
- Using catch or cover crops⁷²

from each system. Of the three systems studied, organic is the only one that had a negative value for global warming potential, indicating that it had a net uptake of greenhouse gases.⁷⁴ This is mostly due to the fact that organic farming built more soil organic matter than non-organic farming did even when the organic farmland was routinely tilled.⁷⁵

	Δ soil C ^{a, b}	N ₂ O flux ^{a, c}	Energy use ^{a, d}	Total GWP ^a	Greenhouse gas intensity intensity grain) ^e
No till	0	303	807	1110	330
Chisel till	1080	406	862	2348	153
Organic	-1953	540	344	-1069	-207

Table 2. Global warming potential (GWP) of three cropping systems⁷⁶

^a kg CO₂ ha⁻¹ y⁻¹ equivalents

^b Average carbon change rates over 11 years.

 $^{^{}c}N_{2}O$ data were measured in 2008.

^d Energy use is for a typical year using published values and field records.

^e kg CO₂ Mg grain⁻¹ equivalents

De Gryze et al. constructed a model based on field data to compare the greenhouse gas contribution of various agricultural management systems. They found that cover cropping increases annual N2O emissions whether standard or "conservation" tillage is used; however, the findings echo the Beltsville data and indicate that systems which accumulate soil carbon, such as cover cropped and organic systems, more than outweigh the slight increase in N2O, resulting in net sequestration by the organic system.⁷⁷

Another method for calculating the global warming potential of agricultural systems is a life-cycle assessment which considers energy demand from field preparation to farmgate sales. A Canadian life-cycle study of canola, corn, soy, and wheat grown with a legume green manure found that emissions which contribute to global warming were reduced 23% by using organic practices and emissions of ozone-depleting chemicals declined 83% by using organic practices.⁷⁸ Most of these differences were due to the high energy demand and emissions associated with production of synthetic fertilizers used in the non-organic system.

The Organic Center has developed a comprehensive "carbon calculator" that takes all factors of dairy production into consideration when calculating a particular system's carbon footprint. Depending on cow breed and numerous management details, the data show that, per unit of production, organic pasture-based dairy emits only 77-80% of the methane emitted by non-organic dairies.⁷⁹

Organic Farming has Lower Energy Use

Some studies have found that organic agriculture has lower net energy use and increased energy efficiency than non-organic farming.⁸⁰ A recent analysis of 17 years of field crop data from Michigan showed that the organic system had lower fossil fuel inputs than the conventional system; however, because of lower yields in the organic system, energy



efficiency was intermediate between low-till and conventional till.⁸¹ The Canadian life-cycle study estimated that organic crop production consumes, on average, 39% of the energy utilized by non-organic production.⁸²

Global warming is one of the biggest threats to life on earth, and organic farming has been shown to effectively mitigate climate change by increasing carbon sequestration in the soil, reducing greenhouse gas release and consuming less fossil fuel.

ORGANIC FARMING REDUCES TOXIC CHEMICAL EXPOSURE

One of the main reasons organic farming is good for human health is because organic growers do not apply toxic synthetic pesticides, fungicides, or herbicides to their crops. In addition, organic farming practices do not contribute to the development of antibiotic-resistant strains of pathogens because antibiotic use is prohibited in organic livestock production. "If you want to learn about the health of a population, look at the air they breathe, the water they drink, and the places where they live."

Hippocrates, the Father of Medicine, in the Fifth Century B.C.

Lower Pesticide Residues Found in Organic Foods



While the official position of governmental regulatory agencies is that there are acceptable levels of pesticide exposure below which there is no reason for concern, many people choose to try to reduce their pesticide exposure by eating organic foods. Studies show that they are making the right choice: a 2002 assessment of pesticide residue data on organic and conventional fresh fruits and vegetables found that organic produce had significantly lower pesticide residues than conventional produce or produce marketed as grown using integrated pest management.⁸³ This study also found that about half of the occurrence of residues found on organic produce was at a very low rate and "consistent with unavoidable contamination because of drift, persistent residues in the soil, or contaminated irrigation water supplies."⁸⁴

Pesticide residues in foods can find their way into our bodies and can be detected in our bodily fluids. Scientific evidence shows that eating organic foods can decrease the levels of pesticide metabolites detected in children's urine. A 2003 study found that "children fed predominantly organic produce and juice had only one-sixth the level of pesticide byproducts in their urine compared with children who ate conventionally farmed foods."⁸⁵ A follow-up study found that metabolites in children's urine indicating exposure to malathion and chlorpyrifos decreased from detectable to non-detectable levels "immediately after the introduction of organic diets."⁸⁶

Exposure to chemicals commonly used in non-organic agriculture has been linked to many types of cancer including those affecting the brain, breast, colon, lung, ovarian, pancreas, kidney, testicles, and stomach, as well as cancer of the central nervous system, according to the U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services President's Cancer Panel 2010 report.⁸⁷ The President's Cancer Panel examined the impact of environmental factors and the use of synthetic chemicals on cancer risks before reporting its findings. Written in collaboration with the National Institutes of Health and the National Cancer Institute, the report recommends that American consumers eat food grown without pesticides and synthetic fertilizers.⁸⁸

Organic Farming Reduces Pesticide Exposure to Farm Workers and Their Families



The President's Cancer Panel report summarizes the large body of literature documenting the negative impacts the exposure to synthetic pesticides has had on non-organic farm workers and their families. Problems include an increased incidence of certain types of cancers by farm workers and their spouses and an increased incidence of leukemia in children living in agricultural areas.⁸⁹

Organic Food is More Nutritious Than Non-Organic Food

Studies are showing that certain crops when grown organically--including apples, tomatoes, strawberries, and blueberries—have higher levels of certain minerals and phytonutrients than their non-organic counterparts. Additionally, some studies show that cows grazed on pasture, as organic farmers are required to do, produce milk with higher conjugated linoleic acid content.⁹⁰



- A long-term study conducted by researchers at University of California, Davis, examined the differences in the flavonoid content of organically and non-organically grown tomatoes. The results of the 10-year study showed that the levels of quercetin, the major flavonoid found in tomatoes, was 79% higher in organic tomatoes than in non-organic. Levels of kaempferol were 97% higher in the organic tomatoes.⁹¹
- A carefully controlled study conducted by Agricultural Research Service scientists found that organic highbush blueberries had significantly higher levels of fructose, glucose, malic acid, phenolics, anthocyanins and antioxidant activity than fruit grown non-organically.⁹²
- A study conducted by Washington State University researchers compared the differences between strawberries grown organically and non-organically. During the two-year study, researchers compared 13 different strawberry varieties. The organic strawberries had 8.5% high total antioxidant activity, 9.7% more ascorbic acid and 10.5% more phenolic compounds than non-organic strawberries. In addition, the organically grown strawberries had a longer shelf life.⁹³

More nutritionally dense than their non-organic counterparts, organic foods provide an extra boost of vitamins and minerals along with richer flavors.

ORGANIC FOOD CAN FEED THE WORLD

Skeptics of organic farming often argue that large-scale organic practices are impractical. Claiming that organic farming produces low yields, critics argue that organic agriculture cannot produce enough food to meet the world's current needs, much less to feed a population projected to reach 9 billion in the next 20 years. Could we better feed the world with healthful organic food were we to make greater investments in organic agriculture? Scientific evidence suggests the answer is yes.

No one had made a serious attempt to answer the question until 2007, when a paper was published that analyzed organic yield data from around the world.⁹⁵ Drawing on data from 91 sources in 53 countries and 12 U.S. states, the authors calculated the ratio of organic vs. conventional yields for ten different categories of foods in both developed and developing countries. The data indicated that organic farming is producing higher yields than the



"It is time to put to rest the debate about whether or not organic agriculture can make a substantial contribution to the food supply. It can, both locally and globally."

Badgley et al. 200794

"non-intensive" agriculture typical of food production in developing countries.

The authors went further and also estimated the amount of biologically available nitrogen (N) potentially available for global organic production based on the amount of N that could be fixed by green-manured legumes planted in between regular cropping periods. They calculated that this biologically fixed nitrogen would total 140 million metric tons, well over the 2001 global input of 82 million metric tons of synthetic nitrogen.⁹⁶

After crunching all the numbers, the authors concluded that "organic agriculture has the potential to contribute quite substantially to the global food supply, while reducing the detrimental environmental impacts of conventional agriculture."⁹⁷

While Badgley et al.'s conclusions have been criticized by some scientists on a variety of minor points, their analysis is an excellent attempt to use a systems analysis to determine the production potential of organic farming. More analyses of this type are needed.

Organic Yield Data from Studies in the U.S.

For a variety of reasons, gross generalizations about organic yields do not necessarily represent the productive capability of organic systems accurately. Public investment in understanding organic farming systems has been almost nil compared to the huge amount of money and effort spent to study optimal application rates and timing for synthetic inputs such as fertilizers, pesticides, and, more recently, GMO crops. Organic farmers have pioneered complex farming methods that do not use synthetic chemicals with virtually no public support. In this context, organic yields are extremely competitive with conventional yields.

Productivity of organic and non-organic crops can vary greatly depending on climate and soil type. Organic crop failures do occur, often when unseasonal rains interfere with timely field operations to manage weeds.⁹⁸ Long-term research in Wisconsin showed that when wet weather prevented timely field operations, weeds decreased organic corn and soy yields to 74% of those found under non-organic management; however, in years when timely weed management was conducted, organic yields were 99% of non-organic yields.⁹⁹

Many growers initially see reduced yields during the transition from non-organic to organic farming until the system rebounds from chemical use. A 22-year study done by the Rodale Institute that compared non-organic and organic corn and soybean crop rotations found that organic corn production was lower than non-organic during the initial 5-year transition period while organic soy yields were comparable in all but one year.¹⁰⁰ However, after the adjustment period, organic corn yields were similar to non-organic yields. The study also showed that organically-grown crops were significantly more productive than their non-organic counterparts during periods of drought.¹⁰¹



Researchers at Iowa State University were able to avoid the "transition effect." Organic and non-organic feed corn and soybean yields were equivalent during the three-year transition period while organic yields exceeded nonorganic yields in the fourth year.¹⁰²

A significant source of data on organic yields is longterm farming systems trials. Most of these studies have found slightly lower yields in organic than conventional production systems for some crops, equivalent yields for other crops, and greater yields for yet others.

• The University of California--Davis Sustainable Agriculture Farming Systems Project found that, after 11 years, crop yields were mostly similar between organic, low-input, and non-organic systems.¹⁰³ Organic bean and safflower yields were consistently higher than non-organic.



- A five-year study of apples grown in Washington State showed that average yields from organic, non-organic, and integrated orchards did not differ.¹⁰⁴
- After 6 years of a comparison study in Minnesota, organic corn yields were 91-93% of non-organic corn yields while organic soybean yields were 81-84% those of non-organic soybeans.¹⁰⁵
- A ten-year comparison study conducted by the Agricultural Research Service at Beltsville, MD, found that yields of organic corn averaged 59-76% of non-organic corn yields, organic soybeans averaged 81% of non-organic yields and organic wheat yielded the same as nonorganic wheat.¹⁰⁶ The investigators conducted multiple regression analysis to determine which factors contributed to reduced organic yields. For corn, reduced yields of organic corn were caused by low nitrogen levels and competition from weeds. For soybeans, weed competition accounted for 100% of the difference between organic and non-organic yields.¹⁰⁷ These findings beg the need for more research to discover effective weed and nitrogen management strategies.

With so much at stake, it is now more important than ever for our nation to invest in a healthier form of agriculture in order to feed a healthier population.

ORGANIC IS A VITAL SECTOR IN THE U.S. ECONOMY

Organic farming has spawned a vital industry. Organic product sales in 2011 catapulted to \$31.5 billion, demonstrating growth of 9.5% over 2010 sales.¹⁰⁸ Prior to the recent economic downturn, organic food sales averaged a 19% growth rate between 1997-2006.¹⁰⁹ Organic food processors, wholesalers, and retailers all benefit economically from organic foods and the sector provides jobs for thousands of people.

Where once organic foods were sold primarily in health food stores and at farmer's markets, today they can be found in major retail chains, including Wal-Mart, Costco and Target. Many supermarket chains, like Safeway, carry organic foods and products and their own organic brands. Organic products are becoming ubiquitous in the United States. A 2010 consumer survey conducted by the Hartman Group showed that, despite the economic downturn, 75% of consumers in the United States had purchased an organic product that year.¹¹⁰

The demand for organic products has moved some of the country's largest brands into the green and organic market place. Several large food processors have augmented their product lines by acquiring organic companies, including General Mills, Kellogg, Dean Foods, Kraft, Nestlé and Pepsi.¹¹¹

The popularity of organic products has captured investors, who are experts at analyzing consumer trends. The investment community is acting on the public's desire for foods and products that protect their health and that of their families. This was illustrated in March, 2012, when Annie's Inc., makers





of 125 organic products sold in more than 25,000 stores in the United States and Canada, saw its initial public offering on Wall Street soar 89% on the first day.¹¹²

Organic farming presents great opportunity for communities to hire people, provide jobs and deliver healthy food. The growth in the organic industry provides our nation with a unique opportunity where demand is outpacing supply. How we thoughtfully build infrastructure to meet consumer

demand for organic in areas of research, education and policy will shape our ability to sustain a viable and prosperous country.



ORGANIC FARMING INCREASE FARMERS' SALES AND PROFITS

The few existing studies on the economics of organic farming show that organic farming can be profitable. The USDA's 2008 Organic Production Survey showed the average sales per organic farm was \$82,868 more than the sales documented from all farms in the 2007 Census.¹¹³ Organic farms also Census data from the USDA indicates that, while U.S. organic farms on average have higher production expenses, they have higher sales and higher operating profits than the average for all U.S. farms, creating real opportunity for rural economic livelihood.

reported having higher production costs than non-organic farms, averaging \$171,978 per farm compared with the all-farm average of \$109,359.¹¹⁴ Based on these values, the average organic farm realized \$45,697 in profits while the average non-organic farm gained \$25,448 in profits.

A significant factor in the profitability of organic farms is the price premium commanded by organic crops and processed products. The organic premium—or difference in price between an organic product and its non-organic counterpart—is based largely on marketplace supply and demand and partially on the higher production costs in organic compared with non-organic farming.¹¹⁵

Many studies show that the organic premium is necessary in order for organic returns to be competitive with returns from non-organic farming. For example, eighteen years of data from a



cropping systems trial at the University of Minnesota showed that, without the price premium, the non-organic system was more profitable than the organic system.¹¹⁶ When organic crops received the full price premium, a four-year organic rotation showed a net return of \$1,329 compared to the return to the four-year nonorganic rotation of \$675.¹¹⁷ Even if the organic crops were sold at half of the price premium, the net return to organic was \$994.¹¹⁸



Many studies indicate that higher organic profits are made despite higher costs of production and somewhat lower yields because of the price premium. USDA data indicate that organic soybean producers earn higher profits even in years when yields are slightly lower largely because of the higher market prices received for organic food-grade soybeans.¹¹⁹ USDA data for dairy operations indicate that average operating and capital costs are higher for organic

dairies but the prices farmers receive are higher as well.¹²⁰ The profitability of organic dairy farms in Pennsylvania was highly dependent on the higher prices farmers received for their organic milk.¹²¹

Net returns to an organic grain system in the mid-Atlantic region were "almost always substantially greater" with the organic premium than for the non-organic system, while returns to organic were generally lower when crops were sold at the conventional price.¹²² A number of other studies indicate that the organic premium is required for organic returns to be competitive with non-organic.¹²³

The three-year transition period required to convert a non-organic farm into organic often presents a significant cost for farmers. However, some research shows crops grown during the transition period are profitable. A study in Pennsylvania showed that transitional grain cropping yielded positive economic returns when tillage was reduced and a high-value crop was included in the rotation.¹²⁴

Since owners of 78% of the organic farms in the United States report they plan to maintain or increase organic production levels over the next five years,¹²⁵ the organic sector will continue to play a contributing role in revitalizing America's rural economy. Understanding the profitability of commercial organic farms and the trade-offs between providing ecosystem services such as soil sequestration and producing high yields is essential. Profitable farms enhance local economies (both rural and urban), not only through the increased income of the farmer but through increased job opportunities.

ORGANIC FARMING STRENGTHENS JOB GROWTH IN THE AGRICULTURAL SECTOR

The organic industry has been one bright spot during the current recession. While many industries have shed employees, organic farming has been hiring workers, adding farmers and increasing revenues. The organic industry has grown from \$3.6 billion in 1997 to \$31.5 billion in 2011, according to the Organic Trade Association.¹²⁶ Even in 2010, during one of the greatest economic downturns in the United States, organic sales increased by nearly 8%.¹²⁷

Organic farms benefit their communities by providing jobs: in the U.S., 53% of organic farms hire labor in comparison to 22% for the entire sector.¹²⁸ There are two main reasons for this:

- Specialization in labor-intensive fruit and vegetable production: many small- and mediumsized organic farms specialize in growing high-value crops such as fruits and vegetables which typically require more hand labor than field crops. Fruits and vegetables account for 35% of organic farm-level sales, while, for the agricultural sector as a whole, only 11% of farm-level sales are of fruits and vegetables.¹²⁹
- Substitution of labor for herbicides and pesticides: organic farms rely on management-intensive practices including planting and incorporating cover crops, hand- or mechanical tillage, and planting flowering hedgerows or corridors to attract beneficial insects and birds that can control crop pests.

A recent survey of organic and non-organic farmers in Georgia, North Carolina, South Carolina, Alabama, and Mississippi found that organic farms employ an average of 61 year-round employees compared with 28 year-round employees hired on non-organic farms.¹³⁰ This study also found that the number of man-hours required for each type of on-farm enterprise was also much greater on organic versus non-organic farms except for pasture management.¹³¹





An earlier study of organic and non-organic production in New Jersey found that, depending on crop, organic farms required 7 – 33% more labor.¹³²

Almost no peer-reviewed data on employment in the organic manufacturing sector has been published; however, a recent report commissioned

by the Organic Trade Association suggests that production and manufacturing of organic products results in 21% more jobs than the manufacture of equivalent non-organic products, due largely to the larger labor requirements on organic farms, smaller organic farm size, and reliance on the organic certification industry.¹³³

These numbers show that organic farmers and manufacturers are growing more than just healthy foods. They're creating job opportunities and fulfilling a critical need at this juncture of our nation's history.

Summary of the Findings

Organic Farming for Health and Prosperity has identified several ways that organic farming is good for human health, economic prosperity and the environment. The increase of organic farmers and acreage, through lowor no-cost changes to the current agricultural system outlined below, will support a thriving economy, people and planet.
POLICIES TO SUPPORT ORGANIC EXPANSION

Improving agriculture is not merely a technological challenge. We must also be creative in how we structure policies to support the types of agriculture that will reliably produce crops, livestock, and fiber in the future while maintaining natural resources.¹³⁴

National agriculture policy is a major driver of practices in the United States and the means by which the government encourages, or discourages, certain activities. Encouragement includes tax breaks, regulations that favor certain practices, and subsidies, which affect supply, nutrition and food access in America. Our government must remove obstacles limiting the growth of the healthful organic food and a positive economic paradigm.

One of the key ways to support organic agriculture is through the Farm Bill –the legislation that is the primary driver of agricultural policy in the United States. Policy initiatives can be created, or modified, to reward organic farming or break down barriers for organic farmers. A unified set of policies that invests in the urgent need for organic research, builds an appropriate farm safety-net for organic farmers, helps meet market demand, provides transition assistance, and reward organic agriculture's environmental benefits must be established, as it has been established for decades in nonorganic agriculture.

The clear and compelling evidence on how to improve human health and achieve a healthy economy and environment must guide the development of 21st century policies. Policies must create a food and farming system that provides enhanced societal benefits in the production of food, fiber and fuel. Key policy recommendations are made below that both facilitate the expansion of organic agriculture and leverage the multiple benefits it provides.



Seeds of Health and Prosperity

Organic farmers are required to use certified organic seed "when commercially available" and need diverse, resilient, and locally-adapted seed. Policies have been developed and could be implemented to reinvigorate publicly funded plant and animal breeding capacity to meet changing consumer demand for more healthy and nutritious foods. Increasing the availability of seed that is adapted to local growing conditions and carries a wide range of desired traits would benefit farmers. Diversity in seeds will help restore genetic diversity on farms as well as provide farmers with greater cropping choices.

Priority 1: Increase Funding for Organic Farming Research



We strongly recommend significantly increasing funding for organic research, education, and extension activities at the intramural and extramural agencies of the USDA. Policymakers should expand organic research by:

- Increasing funding for the Organic Agriculture Research and Extension Initiative.
- Expanding and fully implementing the Agricultural Research Service's organic research agenda and funding its full implementation.
- Expanding and fully implementing the National Agricultural Research, Extension, Education, and Economics Advisory Board's recommendations on organic agriculture research
- Building on the success of the first Organic Production Survey by including it regularly in the U.S. Census of Agriculture.
- Building on the Economic Research Service's successful organic economic reports to ensure continued economic analysis of issues and trends in the organic sector.
- Creating set-asides for organic research within competitive grants programs such as the Agriculture and Food Research Initiative administered by the National Institute of Food and Agriculture.
- Increasing funding and coordination among USDA research agencies for developing seeds, varieties, and livestock breeds appropriate for organic farming systems and making the results publicly available.
- Creating an interdepartmental task force led by the White House Office of Science and Technology Policy to examine opportunities to integrate organic research in USDA and other federal agencies.

Priority 2: Provide Fair and Appropriate Insurance Options for Risk Management

A farmers' success in producing food is directly correlated to their risk management and operational efficiency. In efforts to build sustainable business operations for organic farmers, the following recommendations are set forth:

- Develop appropriate crop insurance options for diversified operations, including the expansion of whole farm revenue insurance to all locations and raising the annual income limit.
- Eliminate the existing organic premium surcharge and create an organic premium discount that would reward risk reduction from maintaining a diverse cropping system.
- Base insurance payouts on organic prices for organic products, not on



non-organic prices. Organic input costs and organic land prices should be recognized.

- Extend relevant disaster assistance to cover lost organic crops at organic prices, not nonorganic prices.
- Provide coverage for contamination from genetically modified organism (GMO) and pesticide drift damage to organic farms.
- Extend relevant coverage to grazed forage, double crops, and cover crops.



Government Procurement of Organic

Federal, state, and local government programs procure vast quantities of food for use by the military, schools, universities, agencies, and Indian reservations. For example, Food **Distribution on Indian Reservations** is a U.S. Department of Agriculture program that supplies a monthly selection of 70 foods to 85,000 low-income individuals living on Indian reservations who do not have easy access to grocery stores as an alternative to supplemental nutrition assistance program (SNAP) benefits. In 2011, this program received \$60 million in funding. Policy reforms could be enacted to allow, encourage, or even require a certain percentage of organic foods be included in these government purchases. One model might be the Federal BioPreferred Procurement Preference Program, which requires all federal agencies and their contractors to preferentially purchase biobased products (i.e., those made from renewable biological resources) when available. This means common sense regulations including:

- Regulating pesticides more strictly to reduce risk of pesticide drift to organic farms;
- Regulating GMOs more strictly to reduce risk of genetic and pesticide contamination;
- Placing the liability for pollen drift on manufacturers and patent holders;
- Shifting the burden of providing buffers to GMO and pesticide users;
- Coordination between the National Organic Program regulations and existing and new regulations impacting agriculture, such as food safety regulations.

To do this, the USDA must expand its data collection efforts on organic, including timely and accurate organic price collection and reporting.

GMO regulation and liability

USDA bans the use of genetically modified organisms (GMOs) in organic production systems, which provides a critical assurance of organic integrity to consumers. Access to non-GMO seeds and protection from GMO contamination by pollen drift or commingling is essential to the success of the organic sector. Since the widespread release of GMO crops, risk avoidance practices by producers and genetic testing by handlers have increased the cost of growing and processing organic food.¹³⁵ Tighter regulation of GMO approval, strengthened monitoring and enforcement systems to ensure compliance, shifting responsibility for buffers to the users of pesticides and GMOs, including coverage for GMO contamination in crop insurance, and placing liability for genetic contamination squarely on the manufacturer/patent holder could limit those problems. Funding for research on contamination potential and a national GMO reporting system is essential.

Priority 3: Promote Government Procurement of Organic Food

This means allowing access to organic food by:

- Lifting prohibitions on the purchase of organic food in the Woman, Infants and Children (WIC) program.
- Allowing Supplemental Nutrition Assistance Program (SNAP) recipients to buy organic foods at farmers' markets and elsewhere

• Allowing government

<image>

procurement of organic food in military, schools and Native American Food Service and Assistance Programs.

It also means maintaining and strengthening consumer confidence in the organic label by ensuring adequate funding for the National Organic Program to perform oversight, enforcement and regulatory functions.

Priority 4: Create a Robust Organic Transition Assistance Program



Organic Transition Assistance

Obtaining organic certification involves a high level of planning, development, and time. Farmlands that were previously non-organic are required to go through a three-year transition period to ensure that previously used prohibited substances are no longer in the soil. During the transition period, the products cannot be marketed as organic, yields are typically lower, and profitability is likely to be lower.

In order to help beginning and transitioning farmers cross the chasm to organic sustainability and profitability, we put forth the following recommendations:

- Provide planning assistance to meet the requirements of an organic system plan.
- Offer business and marketing guidance to identify, engage and sustain complex sales and distribution channels.
- Provide current information and education about organic standards and prohibited materials.
- Provide annual payments during the three-year transition period that reflect income lost during change in system from non-organic to organic.
- Coordinate with the Environmental Quality Incentives Program Organic Initiative and provisions of the Conservation Stewardship Program that provide assistance for implementing conservation practices in organic systems.
- Fund research to address the unique challenges during transition to organic production.

- Collect and report data on the number and characteristics of farmers who are transitioning to organic systems.
- Identify and follow products produced by transitioning farmers through the supply chain.

The European Union provides an excellent model of supporting farmer transition. Countries in the EU provide annual payments during the three-year conversion period to farmers as incentive to convert to organic and continue this support after the transition.¹³⁶ In the U.S. there are several policy models for annual payments to farmers to reward a particular land use, particularly the Conservation Reserve and the Biomass Crop Assistance Programs.

Priority 5: Create Environmental Markets

There are many motivations for a farmer to choose organic production. Some farmers are deeply motivated by environmental protection. We believe this 'greater good' of our people and planets' health should also be economically rewarded and make the following recommendations:

• Ensure organic farmers are rewarded through participation in market-based systems that pay farmers who provide ecosystem services benefiting the wider society.



- Make use of the water quality markets that can be created as a result of the Clean Water Act in certain watersheds or river basins.
- Make use of the USDA's Office of Environmental Market's infrastructure as a clearinghouse for agriculture environmental credits in managing nutrients, wetlands, and carbon.

Environmental Markets

One way to reflect the overall benefits of organic farming in the marketplace is to include organic agriculture within an environmental market. Most studies regarding agriculture's potential role in an environmental market do not consider organic agriculture. They focus on "sustainable" practices such



as water quality management, habitat protection, and the reduction of pesticides and fertilizers. Additional research needs to be conducted to accurately measure and compare the benefits of organic versus non-organic farming.

Since the first market for sulfur dioxide reductions from coal power plants successfully reduced acid rain, environmental markets have been a powerful tool to enable wetland restoration, water quality improvements, habitat restoration, and greenhouse gas reductions. There is growing interest by the USDA, Congress, and others in creating similar market-based systems of payments to farmers who provide ecosystem services to society.

Farmers and other land owners using good practices to prevent pollution would be permitted to sell environmental credits, which could be bought by polluters to offset a unit of environmental damage under market rules set by a government agency. The environmental market would reward growers who have improved

the environment with their practices and allow certified organic farmers to make money by selling eligible credits. This system would achieve pollution reductions at lower costs to society.

Environmental markets depend on placing an economic value on credits and performance. Ecologists and economists need to collaborate to establish valuation rules that recognize organic farming systems provide multiple benefits to natural resources by managing the land in a sustainable manner. An example is the mechanism to create water quality markets in certain watersheds and river basins established by the Clean Water Act and not yet put into practice. Where a pollution trading system has been established, facilities that need discharge permits may be able to buy credits from farmers who have already reduced their pollution runoff by using certain best management practices, thus enabling the treatment facilities to avoid more costly improvements. The USDA Office of Environmental Markets provides infrastructure, as yet underutilized, as a clearinghouse for agriculture environmental credits in return for carefully managing nutrients, wetlands, and carbon.

Priority 6: Improve Conservation Programs

- Improve and fund existing conservation programs, such as the Conservation Stewardship Program and the Environmental Quality Incentives Program, to serve and reward the environmental benefits of organic systems more appropriately.
- Defend the Environmental Quality Incentives Program from cuts, defend the Organic Initiative, and modify rules and practices to make it more useful for organic farmers. Increase training of NRCS staff and outreach to farmers.

Environmental Stewardship Programs

In the United States, the **Conservation Stewardship Program (CSP)** provides payment to farmers for implementing conservation practices on their farms. CSP is a popular "working lands" environmental stewardship program that is coming up for renewal in the 2012 Farm Bill.

CSP is specifically designed to provide comprehensive conservation assistance to whole working farms to help support existing





and newly added conservation efforts. It is the first program where farmers earn annual payments for their performance—for how they farm instead of what they farm. The breadth of goals encompassed by CSP are unmatched by any other policy. They include improving soil, water and air quality; increased biodiversity with wildlife and pollinator habitat; reducing greenhouse gas emissions and sequestering

carbon in the soil; and conserving water and energy use. Even though organic farms are not given special treatment, their farming practices are acknowledged in the program. To the extent that organic farms provide environmental benefits by virtue of required practices for certification--- including non-chemical control of pests and weeds, resource-conserving crop rotations, and planting cover crops and buffers--they will score well. To the extent that organic certification is silent on a resource concern, for example on energy efficiency or air quality, the organic farmer will have an equal opportunity to address that resource as any other farmer.

While similar programs could be used to benefit organic growers and neighboring municipalities, there are numerous challenges in creating effective environmental markets. High transaction costs, challenges in measuring environmental impacts and the need to set socially efficient prices are some of the current barriers to developing a well functioning market. These constraints may necessitate a governmental regulatory framework to be overcome.¹³⁷

Appendix A

Organic Research Priorities

While there is a strong and growing body of scientific literature on organic agriculture in the United States, further research is urgently needed to fill gaps in information. In 2007, Organic Farming Research Foundation published the *National Organic Research Agenda* outlining an array of research needs identified by organic farmers and researchers.¹³⁸ Many of the research priorities identified are even more relevant today with the increase in organic market demand and lack of investment in organic infrastructure.

A number of long-term trials have been conducted to investigate the transition from non-organic to organic management of field crops and to study the performance of increasingly mature organic systems. The literature on organic horticultural and specialty crop production is much more limited and is greatly needed by a majority of organic growers.

The creation of the federal Organic Research and Extension Initiative in 2002 has funded dozens of projects around the country, greatly increasing the amount of organic research being conducted in the United States. Though more organic research is being conducted, many questions remain open about how best to optimize organic farming systems.

We propose investment in the following five urgent research priorities.

Research Priority 1: Study the Human Health Benefits of Consuming Organic Food

There is a great need for research on the human health benefits of consuming organic foods compared to non-organic food diets. The conversation needs to be expanded beyond the argument over "is organic more nutritious or not" and encompass full analysis of different agriculture and food systems, their environmental impacts, and their impacts on public health. A great deal of work has yet to be done to identify how farmers in general can implement practices which increase the nutritional content of food.¹³⁹



Looking beyond nutritional content, analysis is needed to quantify the pesticide reduction potential that can be achieved through widespread adoption of organic management systems and the corresponding impacts on water quality, biodiversity, pollinator survival, farmworker health, public health, market opportunities/profitability, budgetary savings, and societal change.

Research Priority 2: Better Understanding of the Economics of Organic Farming and the Potential for Environmental Markets



There is very little information available on the labor requirements and employment potential of organic farming. There is evidence that organic farming builds community and provides societal benefits including the jobs created by thriving farms, vibrant farmers markets and food coops, and prosperous processors. The local and organic food movements have emerged as powerful forces in the marketplace and in communities. These issues are ripe for in-depth investigation by economists, social scientists, rural sociologists, and others.

Expanding the studies of yields and profitability to a wider range of organic crops is also a need.

Environmental markets depend on placing an economic value on credits and performance, a difficult interdisciplinary task requiring ecologists and economists to collaborate. Valuation rules should recognize the multiple functions of natural resources and how organic farming systems provide multiple services by managing the land in a sustainable manner. Ideally, organic interests must be engaged in the creation of the environmental market in order to clearly articulate how and why certified organic farms are high performers. Thus far, valuation systems are evolving and are the current focus of much research that may bear fruit in the near term.

Research Priority 3: Conduct Transdisciplinary Systems Research

Organic systems are complex. Organic management is based on the integrated functioning of soil, plant, and water ecosystems. In a mature organic system, the whole is greater than the sum of its parts. As one example, cover crop species and management (planting date, incorporation strategy) strongly impact weed competition and nutrient availability to the crop.¹⁴⁰ Cover crops also interact with other fertilizer inputs such as compost in a variety of ways. Soil quality resulting from cover cropping can also enhance crop ability to withstand insect predation or disease pressure. All of these



variables are likely to influence the nutrient content of the crop, as well.

In order to fully discern how an organic farm functions, scientists from multiple disciplines are needed to collaborate using a systems approach to study what works on organic farms, what doesn't and why. Shennan¹⁴¹ provides a rigorous theoretical framework from which to approach managing biological interactions to best support crop production and environmental health.

Making a transdisciplinary effort, soil scientists need to join forces with weed scientists, plant pathologists, entomologists, agronomists,

horticultural scientists, food scientists and other disciplines to fully understand how organic systems function as integrated wholes.

Research needs identified by the scientific papers cited in this report include:

- A ten-year comparison study conducted by the Agricultural Research Service at Beltsville, MD, points to the need for more research into delivering nutrients to organic crops when they need them and effective weed management strategies.¹⁴²
- There is a wide body of literature describing the complex ecological interactions underlying the biological control of crop pests. We have only scratched the surface of evidence that organic practices support more biological diversity than do non-organic practices. Organic practices support the natural suppression of pest populations. This presents a great future research opportunity.
- Crowder et al. point to the need for more studies comparing "pest-control intensity and effects of natural enemy evenness in organic and non-organic fields."¹⁴³
- A small body of research in the United States suggests that improved soil quality may be able to influence the ability of crops to withstand or repel insect attack¹⁴⁴ and plant disease.¹⁴⁵ This is an area where soil scientists and plant pathologists could collaborate on research and generate extremely useful information for all farmers.



Weed Management is the Top Challenge for Organic Farmers

A multitude of surveys and research results have shown that weed management is the number one production issue for organic farmers. Research reports indicate that weeds are the single factor most responsible for lower yields in organic plots.¹⁴⁷ Weed management methods that use herbicide-resistant transgenic crops or regimes of herbicide application focus on only one aspect of

the problem: killing the weed. The efficacy of such strategies is challenged, however, as weeds develop resistance to herbicides.

Developing integrated weed management strategies that are not reliant on synthetic herbicides will be useful to both organic and non-organic farmers. The book *Ecological Management of Agricultural Weeds*¹⁴⁷ outlines a comprehensive research agenda for managing weeds using practices rather than inputs. A recent paper presents a conceptual model that similarly situates weed management in an ecological framework and shows promise for guiding useful weed management research in the future.¹⁴⁸ An Agricultural Research Service scientist in South Dakota has argued for increasing field crop rotation length to nine years, using both perennial forages and annual crops and including periods of no-till management in order to break up weed cycles and improve soil quality.¹⁴⁹ All of these concepts must be put to the test in field studies.

Environmental Effects of the Widespread Adoption of Genetically Modified Organism (GMO) crops

Scientists are documenting GMOs ending up in places that were not anticipated and therefore not studied, highlighting the fact that the real impacts of GMOs are not yet understood. Long after harvest, the insecticidal protein introduced into GMO corn to make it insect-resistant was found in 23% of waterways draining from agricultural fields in Indiana.¹⁵⁰ This unstudied side effect of widespread adoption of GMO crops reveals a deep knowledge deficit: what effect does exposure to this transgenic protein have on stream organisms? This and other unanticipated effects of widespread planting of GMO crops need to be seriously investigated to provide a basis for realistic risk assessment of the impacts of GMO crops.

Organic Livestock Management Systems

One of the least studied areas continues to be organic livestock management systems. There is a need for an increased understanding of organic-compatible ways to manage animal and herd health.





systems have clear benefits: evidence suggests that grazing can play a role in increasing carbon sequestration.¹⁵¹ Additionally, reintegrating crop and livestock systems can tighten nutrient cycling within agroecosystems and reduce accumulation of wastes that pose environmental risks to water supplies from confined animal production operations.

Research Priority 4: Developing Climate-Friendly Farms

Few studies have examined to what degree crop and range lands can absorb atmospheric carbon releases.¹⁵² Policymakers and scientists must "work aggressively" to identify and promote the most effective ways to sequester carbon.¹⁵³ While there is a broader body of international literature on this topic, more research needs to be conducted in the United States.

One of the most challenging shifts that both organic and non-organic farmers are facing is the need to find ways to decrease reliance on fossil fuels. The



more that organic farmers explore options such as solar, wind, on-site biofuels including algae,

and technologies like using anaerobic digesters, the closer they will be to fully meeting the food production challenges of the near future. A related need is to continue developing reduced tillage systems that require less fossil fuel to operate.

The Tri Societies' Greenhouse Gas Working Group has identified increasing nitrogen-use efficiency of cropping systems as the most effective method for reducing N2O emissions from agriculture.¹⁵⁴



More research is needed on CO2, N2O and CH4 flux from cropland and range land and integration of the data to determine the overall effect of agricultural management on greenhouse gas releases.¹⁵⁵ Organic farmers have a related and ongoing need for information on how to better integrate nutrient release from biological fertilizer sources with crop uptake throughout the year.

All farmers, whether they utilize organic or non-organic methods, will need to contend with changing rainfall and weather patterns, reduced availability of fossil fuels and reduced access to energy-intensive nutrient sources such as cheap nitrogen in the very near future. Improving efficient water use of cropping systems is becoming increasingly necessary. Responding to this challenge will require plant breeders to develop crop varieties that are highly productive with less irrigation and will require researchers to develop management systems that produce under very dry conditions.

A related research need is gaining a better understanding of how to manage periods of both flooding and drought in crop production.

Because world phosphorus reserves are finite, pressure is increasing to find ways to improve crop absorption of this nutrient and to recycle available sources. Data suggest that certain clover and alfalfa species have properties that markedly enhance phosphorus cycling.¹⁵⁶ Buckwheat has also long been thought by organic farmers to make phosphorus more readily available to subsequent crops, a notion that is supported by some evidence.¹⁵⁷ This is another topic that would benefit from increased study.

Research Priority 5: Assessing the Environmental Impacts of Organic Farming

While a great deal of research has been conducted on the impact of non-organic farming systems on the environment, there are very little data available on the positive impacts of organic farming. How does organic farming impact water quality? Based on current research, it appears that organic farming plays a significant role in reducing off-site hypoxia because of lower rates of nitrate leaching from organic systems. However, this issue has not yet been systematically explored.

Some scientists have called for a thorough study of the environmental and health impacts of the botanical and mineral-based pesticides allowed for use in organic farming.¹⁵⁸ This information will be helpful for farmers to continue to improve organic management practices and to make a stronger case in favor of organic farming.

Much more work is needed in the U.S on the impacts of organic agriculture on supporting biodiversity. Greater understanding is needed of the mechanisms underlying biological control of pests, diseases, and weeds in organic systems and how these contribute to biodiversity. Another area in which hardly any research has been done is how organic farming affects wildlife.

Additional Research Needs

There is a close link between food systems and resource protection. Organic management is the best defined, regulated, and recognized agricultural production system in the United States. Analysis is needed to quantify the environmental benefits that can be achieved through widespread adoption of organic management systems and the corresponding





impacts on water quality, biodiversity, pollinator survival, farm worker health, public health, market opportunities/profitability, budgetary savings, and societal change.

With further investment into research and the support of insightful policymakers, organic farming will realize its full potential in providing the nation with a safe, abundant, nutritious, and environmentally sound food supply.

The Organic Farming Path Forward

Organic farming is critical to the success of this country and meeting our nation's most urgent needs. When we imagine an America in which organic farming is the leading form of agriculture, we can see a more prosperous, healthy, and environmentally healthy country. Organic farming increases the number of jobs in the agricultural sector, increases agricultural profitability, improves the health of soil and water, and reduces damage from global climate change.

The many benefits of organic farming are important to multiple sectors of society: farming, business, major employers, government policy makers, health professionals, universities, municipal governments, environmental advocates, and individuals.

As the leading national non-profit champion of the American organic family farmer, Organic Farming Research Foundation (OFRF) is building the infrastructure to ensure the success of organic farmers. Organic farms in the United States have, on average, higher sales, higher production expenses, and higher operating profits than the average for all U.S. farms, creating real opportunities for rural economic livelihoods. Organic farms bring economic benefits to their communities by providing increased employment opportunities, as well as health benefits to farmers and their families, consumers of organic foods, and the environment. Increasing the role of organic farming presents a three-fold challenge: increasing public awareness of the value of organic farming, implementing policy changes that ensure organic farming meets the rapidly growing consumer demand, and conducting research to arrive at necessary technological advances.

The demand for organic foods is growing. OFRF promotes policies that help organic farmers to fully meet current and near-term market demand and to expand the number of organic farmers so that, within a generation, organic farming becomes the leading form of agriculture.

It is time that the many benefits of organic agriculture are acknowledged by the public and by more policymakers. A new unified policy to support organic farmers and the organic food industry is needed. The government should increase research that is responsive to organic farmers' needs, integrate organic programs into every federally funded university, and create farm safety net and transition assistance programs that work for organic growers.

Over the past decade, modest public resources have been directed toward organic farming. However, the resources allocated to date are still far disproportionate to the investment needed to realize the great potential of organic farming. **Organic Farming for Health & Prosperity** recommends elements of an integrated, unified policy that will further organic agriculture and support the multiple advantages it provides to society.

The research leads overwhelmingly to the conclusion that an America in which organic farming is the leading form of agriculture is a more prosperous America, a healthier America, and an environmentally healthier America.

Removing the barriers for organic farmers can help make America stronger and healthier. By building a broad and deep base of organic supporters and increasing the number of



champions for organic farmers in Congress and federal agencies, these goals will be achieved.

When an organic farmer succeeds we all thrive

Appendix B

References Consulted

Anderson, Randy L., "A rotation design to reduce weed density in organic farming," Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems 25 (2010): 189-195.

Archer, D.W., Jaradat, A.A., Johnson, J.M-F., Weyers, S.L., Gesch, R.W., Forcella, F., and Kludze, H.K., "Crop productivity and economics during the transition to alternative cropping systems," *Agronomy Journal 99* (2007): 1538–1547.

Badgley, C., J. Moghtader, E. Quintero, E. Zakem, M.J. Chappell, K. Avilés-Vázquez, A. Samulon, and I. Perfecto, "Organic agriculture and the global food supply," *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems* 22 (2007): 86-108.

Baker, B.P., C.M. Benbrook, E. Groth III, and K.L. Benbrook, "Pesticide residues in conventional, integrated pest management (IPM)-grown and organic foods: insights from three US data sets," *Food Additives and Contaminants* 19 (2002): 427-446.

Beecher, N.A., R.J. Johnson, J.R. Brandle, R.M. Case, and L.J. Young, "Agroecology of birds in organic and nonorganic farmland," *Conservation Biology* 16(6) (2002): 1620–1631.

Benbrook, C., C. Carman, E.A. Clark, C. Daley, W. Fulwider, M. Hansen, C. Leifert, K. Martens, L. Paine, L. Petkewitz, G. Jodarski, F. Thicke, J. Velez, and G. Wegner, "A dairy farm's footprint: evaluating the impacts of conventional and organic farming systems," *Organic Center Critical Issue Report* (2010).

Benbrook, C., "Shades of Green: Quantifying the benefits of organic dairy production," The Organic Center (2009); available from organic-center.org/reportfiles/Shades_of_Green_03302009_final.pdf; Internet; accessed September 2011.

Bharati, L., K.-H. Lee, T.M. Isenhart, and R.C. Schultz, "Riparian zone soil-water infiltration under crops, pasture and established buffers," *Agroforestry Systems* 56 (2002): 249-257.

Boody, G., B. Vondracek, D.A. Andow, M. Krinke, J. Westra, J. Zimmerman, and P. Welle, "Multifunctional agriculture in the United States," *Bioscience*, 55(1) (2005): 27-38.

Brumfield, Robin G., Arbindra Rimal, and Steve Reiners. "Comparative Cost Analyses of Conventional, Integrated Crop Management, and Organic Methods." *HortTechnology* 10 (4) (2000): 785-793.

Bulluck, L. R. III, M. Brosius, G. K. Evanylo, and J. B. Ristaino, "Organic and synthetic fertility amendments influence soil microbial, physical and chemical properties on organic and conventional farms," Applied Soil Ecol. 19 (2002): 147-160.

Burger, M. and L.E. Jackson, "Plant and microbial nitrogen use and turnover: rapid conversion of nitrate to ammonium in soil with roots," *Plant and Soil*, 266 (2004): 289-301.

Cavigelli, M., M. Djurickovic, C. Rasmann, J. Spargo, S. Mirsky, and J. Maul, "Global warming potential of organic and conventional grain cropping systems in the mid-Atlantic region of the U.S.," *Proceedings of the Farming Systems Design Conference, Monterey, California* (2009a), 51-52.

Cavigelli, M.A., B.L. Hima, J.C. Hanson, J.R. Teasdale, A.E. Conklin, and Y. Lu, "Long-term economic performance of organic and conventional field crops in the mid-Atlantic region," *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems* 24 (2009b): 102-119.

Cavigelli, M.A., J.R. Teasdale, and A.E. Conklin, "Long-term agronomic performance of organic and conventional field crops in the Mid-Atlantic region," *Agronomy J.* 100 (2008): 785-794.

Cavigelli, M.A., and S.J. Thien, "Phosphorus bioavailability following incorporation of green manure crops," *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 67 (2003): 1186-1194.

Chavas, J.-P., J.L. Posner, and J.L. Hedtcke, "Organic and Conventional Production Systems in the Wisconsin Integrated Cropping Systems Trial: II. Economic and Risk Analysis 1993–2006," *Agronomy Journal* 101 (2009): 288–295.

Clark, M.S., W.R. Horwath, C. Shennan, and K.M. Scow, "Changes in soil chemical properties resulting from organic and low-input farming practices," *Agronomy Journal*, Vol. 90 (1998): 662-672.

Clark, S., K. Klonsky, P. Livingston, and S. Temple, "Crop yield and economic comparisons in organic, lowinput and conventional cropping systems," *American Journal of Alternative Agriculture*. Vol. 14 (1999). Colla, G., J.P. Mitchell, B.A. Joyce, L.M. Huyck, "Soil physical properties and tomato yield and quality in alternative cropping systems," *Agronomy Journal* (2000): 924-932 available from cabdirect.org/ abstracts/20003012187.html;jsessionid=3DD50FEDCFD9FA9C2A647A65A7C267A3; Internet; accessed September 2011.

Costanza, R., R. d'Arge, R. de Groot, S. Farber, M. Grasso, B. Hannon, K. Limburg, S. Naeem, R.V. O'Neill, J. Paruelo, R.G. Raskin, P. Sutton, and M. van den Belt, "The value of the world's ecosystem services and natural capital," *Nature* Vol. 387 (1997): 253-260.

Cowan, L. "Hot debut: Annie's IPO Jumps 89%," Wall Street Journal, March 28, 2012.

Crowder, D. W., T. D. Northfield, M. R. Strand, and W.E. Snyder, "Organic agriculture promotes evenness and natural pest control," *Nature*, 466(7302) (2010): 109-112.

Curl, C.L., R.A. Fenske, K. Elgethun, "Organophosphorus pesticide exposure of urban and suburban preschool children with organic and conventional diets," *Environmental Health Perspectives* 111 (2003): 377–382.

Daroub, S., B.G. Ellis, and G.P. Robertson, "Effect of cropping and low-chemical input systems on soil phosphorus fractions," *Soil Science* 166 (2001): 281-291.

David, M.B., L.E. Drinkwater, and G.F. McIsaac, "Sources of nitrate yields in the Mississippi River Basin," *Journal of Environmental Quality* 39 (2010): 1657-1667.

De Gryze, S., A. Wolf, S.R. Kaffka, J. Mitchell, D.E. Rolston, S.R. Temple, J. Lee, and J. Six, "Simulating greenhouse gas budgets of four California cropping systems under conventional and alternative management," *Ecological Applications* 20 (2010): 1805-1819.

Delate, K. and C. Cambardella, "Agroecosystem performance during transition to certified organic grain production," *Agronomy Journal* 96 (2004): 1288-1298.

Delate, K., M. Duffy, C. Chase, A. Holste, H. Friedrich, and N. Wantate, "An economic comparison of organic and conventional grain crops in a long-term agroecological research (LTAR) site in Iowa," *American Journal of Alternative Agriculture* 18 (2003): 59–69.

Delbridge, Timothy A., Jeffrey A. Coulter, Robert P. King, Craig C. Sheaffer, and Donald L. Wyse. "Economic performance of long-term organic and conventional cropping systems in Minnesota." *Agronomy Journal* 103 (5) (2011): 1372-1382.

Dhiman, T.R., G.R. Anand, L.D. Satter, and M.W. Pariza, "Conjugated linoleic acid content of milk from cows fed different diets," *Journal of Dairy Science* 82 (1999): 2146-2156.

Diamond, J.M., Collapse: how societies choose to fail or succeed (New York: Viking Press, 2005).

Dimitri, C., "Organic agriculture: an agrarian or industrial revolution?" *Agricultural and Resource Economics Review*, 39 (2010): 384-395.

Dimitri, Carolyn, and Lydia Oberholtzer, "Marketing U.S. organic foods," USDA, Economic Research Service, Bulletin Number 58, September 2009, available from ers.usda.gov/publications/eib58/eib58.pdf; Internet; accessed August 2011.

Dimitri, C., and L. Oberholtzer, *Market-led versus Government-Facilitated Growth: Development of the U.S. and EU Organic Agricultural Sectors.* WRS-05-05. U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. August 2005.

Drinkwater, L.E. and S.S. Snapp, "Nutrients in agroecosystems: rethinking the management paradigm," *Advances in Agronomy* 92 (2007): 163-186.

Drinkwater, L.E., P. Wagoner, and M. Sarrantonio, "Legume-based cropping systems have reduced carbon and nitrogen losses," *Nature* 396 (1998): 262-265.

Environmental Protection Agency, "The National Water Quality Inventory: Report to Congress for the 2004 Reporting Cycle: Findings" (2009) water.epa.gov/lawsregs/guidance/cwa/305b/upload/2009_05_20_305b_200 4report_report2004pt3.pdf

Evanylo, G., C. Sherony, J. Spargo, D. Starner, M. Brosius, and K. Haering, "Soil and water environmental effects of fertilizer-, manure-, and compost-based fertility practices in an organic vegetable cropping system," *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 127 (2008): 50-58.

Franzluebbers, A. J. and J. A. Stuedemann, "Surface soil changes during twelve years of pasture management in the Southern Piedmont USA," Soil Science Society of America Journal 74 (2010): 2131-2141.

Gelfand, I., S.S. Snapp, and G.P. Robertson, "Energy efficiency of conventional, organic, and alternative cropping systems for food and fuel at a site in the U.S. Midwest," *Environmental Science and Technology* 44 (2010): 4006-4011.

Gleick, P.H., R.M. Adams, R.M. Amasino, E. Anders, D.J. Anderson, W.W. Anderson, L.E. Anselin, et al., "Climate change and the integrity of science," *Science* 328 (2010):689-690.

Glover, J.D., J.P. Reganold, and P.K. Andrews, "Systematic method for rating soil quality of conventional, organic, and integrated apple orchards in Washington State," *Agriculture, Ecosystems, and Environment* 80 (2000): 29-45.

Grandy, S. and G.P. Robertson, "Land-use intensity effects on soil organic carbon accumulation rates and mechanisms," *Ecosystems* 10 (2007): 58-73; available from kbs.msu.edu/images/stories/docs/robertson/grandy_robertson_2007_ecosystems.pdf Internet; accessed August 2011.

Greene, C., and K. Smith, *Can Genetically Engineered and Organic Crops Coexist?* Choices Magazine 25(2) 2010. Online at choicesmagazine.org/magazine/article.php?article=131

Greene, C., C. Dimitri, B.-H. Lin, W. McBride, L. Oberholtzer, and T. Smith. *Emerging issues in the U.S. Organic Industry*. EIB-55. U.S. Dept. of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. June 2009.

Greenhouse Gas Working Group, "Agriculture's role in greenhouse gas emissions & capture," Greenhouse Gas Working Group Report of the American Society of Agronomy, Crop Science Society of America, and Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI. (2010); available from crops.org/files/science-policy/ghg-reportaugust-2010.pdf; Internet; accessed August 2011.

Han, H., J.D. Allan, D. Scavia, "Influence of climate and human activities on the relationship between watershed nitrogen input and river export," *Environmental Science and Technology*, Vol. 43 (2009): No. 6.

Hartman Group, *Beyond Organic and Natural 2010: resolving confusion in marketing food and beverages.* Bellevue, WA, Feb. 2010. Summary online at http://www.hartman-group.com/downloads/beyond-organicnatural-report-overview.pdf

Hepperly, P., D. Lotter, C. Ziegler Ulsh, R. Seidel, and C. Reider, "Compost, manure and synthetic fertilizer influences crop yields, soil properties, nitrate leaching and crop nutrient content," *Compost Science and Utilization* 17 (2009): 117-126.

Hole, D.G., A.J. Perkins, J.D. Wilson, I.H. Alexander, P.V. Grice, and A.D. Evans, "Does organic farming benefit biodiversity?" *Biological Conservation*, Vol. 122 (2005): 113-130.

Hoodes, L., M. Sligh, H. Behar, R. Blobaum, L.J. Bunin, L. Coody, E. Henderson, F. Jones, M. Lipson, and J. Riddle, National Organic Action Plan. RAFI USA (2010).

Howard, Philip H. 2009. Organic Industry Structure. *Media-N: Journal of the New Media Caucus*, 5(3). Online at http://www.newmediacaucus.org/html/journal/issues.php?f=papers&time=2009_winter&page=howard

IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change), "Climate Change 2007: Synthesis Report," Contribution of Working Groups I, II and III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Core Writing Team, Pachauri, R.K and Reisinger, A. (eds.)], IPCC, Geneva, Switzerland (2007).

Jackson, L., M. van Noordwijk, J. Bengtsson, W. Foster, L. Lipper, M. Pulleman, M. Said, J. Snaddon, and R. Vodohe. "Biodiversity and agricultural sustainagility: from assessment to adaptive management," *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability* 2 (2010): 80-87.

Jones, G.A., and K.E. Sieving, "Intercropping sunflower in organic vegetables to augment bird predators of arthropods," *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 117 (2006): 171-177.

Karlen, Douglas L., Eric G. Hurley, Susan S. Andrews, Cynthia A. Cambardella, David W. Meek, Michael D. Duffy and Antonio P. Mallarino, "Crop rotation effects on soil quality at three northern Corn/Soybean Belt locations," *Agronomy Journal* 98 (2006): 484-495.

Kong, A.Y.A., S.J. Fonte, C. van Kessel, and J. Six, "Soil aggregates control N cycling efficiency in long-term conventional and alternative cropping systems," *Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems* 79 (2007): 45-58.

Kramer, S.B., J.P. Reganold, J.D. Glover, B.J.M. Bohannan, and H.A. Mooney, "Re¬duced nitrate leaching and enhanced denitrifier activity and efficiency in organically fertil¬ized soils," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 103 (2006): 4522-4527.

Kremen, C., N.M. Williams, and R.W. Thorp, "Crop pollination from native bees at risk from agricultural intensification," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* Vol. 99 (2002): 16812-16816.

Kroeger, T., and F. Casey, An assessment of market-based approaches to providing ecosystem services on agricultural lands. Ecological Economics (2007). doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2007.07.021

Lal, R., "Soil carbon sequestration impacts on global climate change and food security," *Science* 304 (2004): 1623-1627.

Lal, R., J.A. Delgado, P.M. Groffman, N. Millar, C. Dell, and A. Rotz, "Management to mitigate and adapt to climate change," *Journal of Soil and Water Conservation* 66 (2011): 276-285; available from jswconline.org/ content/66/4/276.full.pdf+html; Internet; accessed August 2011.

Letourneau, D.K. and B. Goldstein, "Pest damage and arthropod community structure in organic vs. conventional tomato production in California," *Journal of Applied Ecology* 38 (2001): 557-570.

Liebig, M., J.A. Morgan, J.D. Reeder, B.H. Ellert, H.T. Gollany, and G.E. Schuman, "Greenhouse gas contributions and mitigation potential of agricultural practices in northwestern USA and western Canada," *Soil and Tillage Research* 83 (2005): 25-52.

Liebman, M., C. L. Mohler, and C. P. Staver, *Ecological management of agricultural weeds*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2001.

Liu, B., C. Tu, S. Hu, M. Gumpertz, and J.B. Ristaino, "Effect of organic, sustainable, and conventional management strategies in grower fields on soil physical, chemical, and biological factors and the incidence of Southern blight," *Applied Soil Ecology* 37 (2007): 202-214.

Losey, J.E., and M. Vaughn, "The economic value of ecological services provided by insects," *BioScience* 56 (2006): 311-323.

Lotter, D., R. Seidel, and W. Liebhardt, "The performance of organic and conventional cropping systems in an extreme climate year," *American Journal of Alternative Agriculture* 18(03) (2009): 146-154.

Lu, C., K. Toepel, R. Irish, R.A. Fenske, D.B. Barr, R. Bravo, "Organic diets significantly lower children's dietary exposure to organophosphorus pesticides," Environmental Health Perspectives 114 (2006): 260-263.

Marriott, E.E., and M.M. Wander, "Total and labile soil organic matter in organic and conventional farming systems," *Soil Science Society of America Journal* 70 (2006): 950-959.

McBride, W.D. and C. Greene, "The profitability of organic soybean production," *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems*, Vol. 24(4) (2009a): 276-284.

McBride, W.D. and C. Greene, "Costs of organic milk production on U.S. Dairy Farms," *Review of Agricultural Economics* Vol. 31, No. 4 (2009b): 793-813.

McIsaac, G.F. "The effects of organic and conventional cropping systems on nitrate transport to tile drains." Presentation at the Tile Drainage Workshop, organized by the U.S. Geological Survey, Champaign, IL, April 2001.

McSwiney, C.P., S.S. Snapp and L.E. Gentry, "Use of N immobilization to tighten the N cycle in agroecosystems," *Ecological Applications* 20 (2010): 648-662.

Menalled, F. D., K.L. Gross, and M. Hammond, "Weed aboveground and seedbank community responses to agricultural management systems," *Ecological Applications* 11 (2001): 1586–1601.

Miliczky, E.R., C.O. Calkins, D.R. Horton, "Spider abundance and diversity in apple orchards under three insect pest management programs in Washington state," *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 2 (2000): 203-215.

Mitchell, A.E., Y.-J. Hong, E. Koh, D.M. Barrett, D.E. Bryant, R.F. Denison, and S. Kaffka, "Ten-year comparison of the influence of organic and conventional crop management practices on the content of flavonoids in tomatoes," *The Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry* 55 (2007): 6154 -6159.

Morandin, L.A. and M.L. Winston, "Wild bee abundance and seed production in conventional, organic and genetically modified canola," *Ecological Applications* 15(3) (2005): 871–881.

Mulvaney, R.L., S.A. Khan, and T.R. Ellsworth, "Synthetic nitrogen fertilizers deplete soil nitrogen: a global dilemma for sustainable cereal production," *Journal of Environmental Quality* 38 (2009): 2295–2314.

National Agricultural Statistics Service, *Organic Production survey (2008)*, Volume 3, Special Studies, Part 2 (2010) AC-07-SS-2; available from agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2007/Online_Highlights/Organics/ ORGANICS.pdf: Internet; accessed July 2011.

National Organic Program, "2011 List of Certified Operations" fact sheet (April 2012). Accessed online May 2012. ams.usda.gov/AMSv1.0/getfile?dDocName=STELPRDC5097484&acct=nopgeninfo

Nicholls, C.I., M. Parrella, and M.A. Altieri, "The effects of a vegetational corridor on the abundance and dispersal of insect biodiversity within a northern California organic vineyard," *Landscape Ecology* 16 (2001): 133-146.

Oberholtzer, Lydia, Carolyn Dimitri, and Catherine Greene. *Price Premiums Hold on as U.S. Organic Produce Market Expands*. Washington, D.C.: USDA Economic Research Service (2005) VGS-308-01.

Oquist, K.A., J.S. Strock, and D.J. Mulla, "Influence of alternative and conventional farming practices on subsurface drainage and water quality," *Journal of Environmental Quality* 36 (2007): 1194–1204.

Organic Trade Association, 2012a, "Consumer-driven U.S. organic market surpasses \$31 billion in 2011," press release issued April 23, 2012; available from organicnewsroom.com/2012/04/us_consumerdriven_organic_mark.html; Internet; accessed May 2012.

Organic Trade Association, 2012b, "Organic foods industry creates more than a half million jobs," press release issued April 25, 2012; available from organicnewsroom.com/2012/04/organic_foods_industry_creates.html; Internet; accessed May 2012.

Organic Trade Association, 2011, "U.S. organic industry valued at nearly \$29 billion in 2010," Organic Trade Association press release issued April 21, 2011; available from organicnewsroom.com/2011/04/us_organic_industry_valued_at.html; Internet; accessed July 2011.

Organic Trade Association, 2010, "U.S. Organic Industry Overview," ota.com/pics/documents/2010OrganicIn dustrySurveySummary.pdf; Internet; accessed May 2012.

Pang, X., and J. Letey, "Organic farming: Challenge of timing nitrogen availability to crop nitrogen requirements," *Soil Science Society of America Journal*, 64 (2000): 247-253.

Pelletier, N., N. Arsenault, and P. Tyedmers, "Scenario modeling potential eco-efficiency gains from a transition to organic agriculture: life cycle perspectives on Canadian canola, corn, soy, and wheat production," Environmental Management 42 (2008): 989-1001; available from ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18574623; Internet; accessed January 2012.

Phelan, P.L., J.R., Mason, and B.R. Stinner, "Soil-fertility management and host preference by European corn borer, *Ostrinia nubilalis* (Hübner), on Zea mays L.: A comparison of organic and conventional chemical farming," *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 56 (1995): 1–8.

Phelan, P. L., K. Norris, and J.R. Mason, "Soil-management history and host preference by *Ostrinia nubilalis* (Hübner): Evidence for plant mineral balance as a mechanism mediating insect/plant interactions," *Environmental Entomology* 25 (1996): 1329–1336.

Pimentel, D., P. Hepperly, J. Hanson, D. Douds, and R. Seidel, "Environment, energy, and economic comparisons of organic and conventional farming systems," *Bioscience* 55(7) (2005): 573-582.

Porter, P.M., D.R. Huggins, C.A. Perillo, S.R. Quiring, and R.K. Crookston, "Organic and other management strategies with two and four year crop rotations in Minnesota," *Agronomy Journal* 95 (2003): 233–244.

Posner, J.L., J.O. Baldock, and J.L. Hedtcke, "Organic and conventional production systems in the Wisconsin Integrated Cropping Systems Trials: I. Productivity 1990-2002," *Agronomy Journal* 100 (2008): 253-260.

Poudel, D., W. Horwath, W. Lanini, S. Temple, and A. Van Bruggen, "Comparison of soil N availability and leaching potential, crop yields and weeds in organic, low-input and conventional farming systems in northern California," *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 90 (2002): 125-137.

Ramanathan, V., and Y. Xu, "The Copenhagen Accord for limiting global warming: Criteria, constraints and available avenues," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 107(18) (2010): 8055-8062; available from pnas.org/content/107/18/8055.full; Internet; accessed July 2011.

Reganold, J.P, D. Jackson-Smith, S.S. Batie, R.R. Harwood, J.L. Kornegay, D. Bucks, C.B. Flora, J.C. Hanson, W.A. Jury, D. Meyer, A. Schumacher, Jr., H. Sehmsdorf, C. Shennan, L.A. Thrupp, and P. Willis, "Transforming U.S. agriculture," *Science*, Vol. 332 no. 6030 (2011): 670-671.

Reganold, J.P., P.K. Andrews, J.R. Reeve, L. Carpenter-Boggs, C.W. Schadt, J.R. Alldredge, C.F. Ross, N.M. Davis, and J. Zhou Fruit and soil quality of organic and conventional strawberry agroecosystems. *PLoS ONE* 5(9) (2010): e12346. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0012346.

Reganold, J.P., J.D. Glover, P.K. Andrews, and H.R. Hinman. "Sustainability of three apple production systems." *Nature* 410 (2001): 926-930

Robertson, G.P., V.G. Allen, G. Boody, E.R. Boose, N.G. Creamer, L.E. Drinkwater, J. R. Gosz, L. Lynch, J.L. Havlin, L.E. Jackson, S.T.A. Pickett, L. Pitelka, A. Randall, A.S. Reed, T.R. Seastedt, R.B. Waide, and D.H. Wall, "Long-term agricultural research: a research, education, and extension imperative," *BioScience*, Vol. 58. No. 7. (2008): 640-645.

Robertson, G.P., E.A. Paul, and R.R. Harwood. "Greenhouse gases in intensive agriculture: Contributions of individual gases to the radiative forcing of the atmosphere," *Science* 289 (2000):1922–1925; Available from kbs. msu.edu/images/stories/docs/robertson/robertson_et_al._science_2000.pdf; Internet.

Rotz, C. A., G. H. Kamphuis, H. D. Karsten, and R. D. Weaver, "Organic Dairy Production Systems in Pennsylvania: A Case Study Evaluation." *J. Dairy Sci.* 90 (2007): 3961–3979.

Santos, F.I., and C.L. Escalante, "Farm Labor Management Decisions of Organic and Conventional Farms: A Survey of Southeastern Farm Businesses." *Univ. Georgia Outreach Bulletin* AGECON-10-001 (2010); Available from ces.uga.edu/Agriculture/agecon/pubs/Outreach%20Bulletin%20-%20Farm%20Labor%20 Management%20Survey.pdf; Internet.

Shennan, C., "Biotic interactions, ecological knowledge and agriculture. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society," *Biological Sciences* 363 (2008) 717-739. Available from ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2610106/; Internet.

Smil, V., "Nitrogen in crop production: An account of global flows," *Global Biogeochemical Cycles* 13 (1999): 647-662.

Smith, E. G., J.M. Clapperton, and R.E. Blackshaw, "Profitability and Risk of Organic Production Systems in the Northern Great Plains," *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems* 19(3) (2004):152-158.

Smith, R.G., M.E. Barbercheck, D.A. Mortensen, J. Hyde, and A.G. Hulting, "Yield and net returns during the transition to organic feed grain production," *Agron. J.* 103 (2011): 51-59.

Smith, R.G., D.A. Mortensen, and M.R. Ryan, "A new hypothesis for the functional role of diversity in mediating resource pools and weed-crop competition in agroecosystems," *Weed Research* 50 (2009): 37-48.

Snapp, S.S., L.E. Gentry, and R. Harwood, "Management intensity – not biodiversity – the driver of ecosystem services in a long-term row crop experiment." *Agriculture, Ecosystems, & the Environment.* (15 August 2010): 242-248

Soil and Water Conservation Society. Soil Biology Primer. Rev. ed. Ankeny, Iowa, (2010): Soil and Water Conservation Society.

Sooby, J., and X. Zhou. 2009, "Focus on enhancing phytochemical content. Letter to Science, 23 October 2009," *Science* 326 (2009): 523.

Sooby, J., J. Landeck, and M. Lipson, "2007 National organic research agenda," Santa Cruz, CA: Organic Farming Research Foundation (2007).

Stone, A. G., Scheuerell, S. J., & Darby, H. M. "Suppression of soilborne diseases in field agricultural systems: Organic matter management, cover cropping, and other cultural practices," In Magdoff, F., and R.R. Weil, eds., "Soil Organic Matter in Sustainable Agriculture," (2004): 131-177. Boca Raton: CRC Press. Tank, J.L., E.J. Rosi-Marshall, T.V. Royer, M.R. Whiles, N.A. Griffiths, T.C. Frauendorf, and D.J. Treering, "Occurrence of maize detritus and a transgenic insecticidal protein (Cry1Ab) within the stream network of an agricultural landscape," *Proceedings National Academies of Sciences* 107 (2010):17645-17650. Available from pnas.org/content/107/41/17645.full; Internet.

Teasdale, J.R., C.B. Coffman, and R.W. Mangum, "Potential long-term benefits of no-tillage and organic cropping systems for grain production and soil improvement," *Agron. J.* 99 (2007):1297-1305.

Teboh, J.M., and D.W. Franzen, "Buckwheat (*Fagopyrum esculentum* Moench) Potential to contribute solubilized soil phosphorus to subsequent crops," *Comm. in Soil Science and Plant Analysis* 42 (2011):1544-1550.

Treadwell, D.D., N.G. Creamer, J.R. Schultheis, and G.D. Hoyt., "Cover Crop Management Affects Weeds and Yield in Organically Managed Sweetpotato Systems," *Weed Technology* 21 (2007):1039-1048.

Thrupp, L.A., M.J. Costello, and G. McGourty, "Biodiversity Conservation Practices in California Vineyards: Learning From Experiences," Bulletin from the California Sustainable Winegrowing Program. March 2008. Online at sustainablewinegrowing.org/docs/2008-Biodiversity_in_Vineyards.pdf; Internet.

Trenberth, K.E., "Changes in precipitation with climate change," Climate Research 47 (2011):123-138, doi:10.3354/cr00953. Online at cgd.ucar.edu/cas/Trenberth/trenberth.papers/SSD%20Trenberth%202nd%20 proof.pdf; Internet.

UNCCD. [United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification]. Factsheet 2. "The causes of desertification," (2008) Online at http://www.unccd.int/publicinfo/factsheets/showFS.php?number=2; Internet.

USDA Soil Conservation Service, "Conquest of the Land Through 7,000 Years," *Agriculture Information Bulletin No. 99* (1953).

U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services. National Institutes of Health. National Cancer Institute. *"Reducing Environmental Cancer Risk. What We Can Do Now,"* (2011) Online at http://deainfo.nci.nih.gov/advisory/pcp/annualReports/index.htm; Internet.

U.S. Government Printing Office, *Electronic Code of U.S. Federal Regulations*, Title 7, Subtitle B, Chapter I, Subchapter M, Organic Foods Production Act Provisions, Part 205, National Organic Program (2011). Online at http://ecfr.gpoaccess.gov/cgi/t/text/text-idx?c=ecfr&sid=3f34f4c22f9aa8e6d9864cc2683cea02&tpl=/ecfrbrowse/Title07/7cfr205_main_02.tpl; Internet; accessed August 2011.

Organic Farming for Health & Prosperity

Wander, M., and T. Nissen, "Value of soil organic carbon in agricultural lands," *Mitigation and adaptation strategies for global change* 9 (2004):417-431.

Wang, S.Y., C.-T. Chen, W. Sciarappa, C.Y. Wang, and M.J. Camp, "Fruit quality, antioxidant capacity, and flavonoid content of organically and conventionally grown blueberries," J. Agric. Food Chem. 56 (2008): 5788-5794.

Further Reading

Agricultural Marketing Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture, *Pesticide Data Program Annual Summary, 2009* (2011) available from http://www.ams.usda.gov/AMSv1.0/getfile?dDocName=STELP RDC5091055 ; Internet; accessed September 2011.

Carpenter, S.R. and E.M. Bennett, "Reconsideration of the planetary boundary for phosphorus," *Environmental Research Letters* 6 (2011):12 pp. Online at http://iopscience.iop.org/1748-9326/6/1/014009/pdf/1748-9326_6_1_014009.pdf

Dimitri, Carolyn and Lydia Oberholtzer, "EU and U.S. organic markets face strong demand under different policies," *Amber Waves* (2006); available from http://www.ers.usda.gov/AmberWaves/ February06/Features/feature1.htm; Internet; accessed August 2011.

Dobbs, T. and J. Pretty, "Agri-environmental stewardship schemes and 'multi-functionality," *Review of Agricultural Economics* Vol. 26. No. 2 (2004): 220-237.

Doran, J., "Soil health and global sustainability: translating science into practice," *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* no. 88 (2002): 119–127.

Duraiappah, Anantha Kumar, and Shahid Naeem, lead authors, a report of the Millennium *Ecosystem Assessment Ecosystem and Human Well-Being. Biodiversity Synthesis.* (Washington DC., World Resources Institute: 2005).

Ehrlich, P.R., and E.O. Wilson, "Biodiversity Studies: Science and Policy." *Science Magazine*. Vol. 253. No. 5021. (2001): 758 – 762.

Elmqvist, T. and E. Maltby, "Biodiversity, Ecosystems, and Ecosystem Services." In *The Economics of Ecosystems and Biodiversity. Ecological and Economic Foundations*," Edited by Pushpam Kumar. Earthscan, 2010. London and Washington, DC.

Environmental Protection Agency, "U.S. Greenhouse Gas Inventory Report: inventory of U.S. greenhouse gas emissions and sinks: 1990-2009," USEPA #430-R-11-005 (2011): Online at epa.gov/ climatechange/emissions/usinventoryreport.html; Internet; accessed August 2011.

Gomiero, T., G.M. Paoletti, and D. Pimentel, "Energy and environmental issues in organic and conventional agriculture," *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences* 27(4) (2008): 239-254.

Jackson, L.E., U. Pascual, and T. Hodgkin, "Utilizing and conserving agrobiodiversity in agricultural landscapes," *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 121 (2007): 196–210.

Karlen, Douglas L., M.J. Mausbach, J. W. Doran, R.G. Cline, R.F. Harris, and G.E. Schuman, "Soil quality: A concept, definition and framework for evaluation," *Soil Science Society of America Journal* Vol. 61 (1997): 4-10.

Letourneau, D.K. and S.G. Bothwell, "Comparison of organic and conventional farms: challenging ecologists to make biodiversity functional," *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 6(8) (2008): 430–438.

Lu C, Barr DB, Pearson MA, Waller LA, Dietary Intake and Its Contribution to Longitudinal Organophosphorus Pesticide Exposure in Urban/Suburban Children. *Environ Health Perspect* 116 (2008):537-542. Online at dx.doi.org/10.1289/ehp.10912; Internet.

Lynch, Derek., Rod MacRae, Ralph C. Martin, "Carbon and global warming potential footprint of organic farming" (2010); online at organicagcentre.ca/DOCs/OVCRT_Carbon_Footprint_FINAL_REPORT_2010.pdf; Internet; accessed July 2011.

Mahoney, P.R., K.D. Olson, P.M. Porter, D.R. Huggins, C.A. Perillo, and R.K. Crookston, Profitability of organic cropping systems in southwestern Minnesota," *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems* 19 (2004): 35–46.

Mooney, H. and G. Mace, "Biodiversity policy challenges," Science Magazine, Vol. 325 (2009): 1474.

National Research Council, Toward Sustainable Agricultural Systems in the 21st Century. (Washington, DC: The National Academies Press, 2010).

Natural Resources Conservation Service, "Managing soil organic matter: the key to air and water quality," Soil Quality Technical Note No. 5 (2003); online at soils.usda.gov/sqi/concepts/soil_organic_matter/files/sq_tn_5.pdf; Internet; accessed July 2011.

Polasky, S.M., "Why conservation planning needs socioeconomic data." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. vol. 105 no. 18 (May 6, 2008): 6505-6506.

Smukler, S.M., S. Sanchez-Moreno, S.J. Fonte, H. Ferris, K. Klonsky, A.T. O'Geen, K.M. Scow, K.L. Steenwerth, and L.E. Jackson, "Biodiversity and multiple ecosystem functions in an organic farmscape," *Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment* 139 (2010): 80-97.

Tilman, D., Cassman, K.G., Matson, P.A., Naylor, R. and Polasky, S., "Agricultural sustainability and intensive production practices," *Nature* 418 (2002): 671-677. Online at nature.com/nature/journal/v418/n6898/full/nature01014.html; Internet.

Tubiello, F.N. and C. Rosenzwieg, "Developing climate change metrics for agriculture," *The Integrated Assessment Journal*. Vol. 8. No. 1. (2007): 165-184. Online at journals.sfu.ca/int_assess/index.php/iaj/ article/viewArticle/276; Internet.

USDA Food and Nutrition Service. 2011. Food Distribution Program on Indian Reservations Fact Sheet (PDF|43 KB).

Vance, C.P., "Symbiotic nitrogen fixation and phosphorus acquisition. Plant nutrition in a world of declining renewable resources," *Plant Physiology* 127 (2001):390-397. Online at plantphysiol.org/ content/127/2/390.short; Internet.

About OFRF

Organic Farming Research Foundation (OFRF) is the only national non-profit champion of the American organic family farmer. Founded in 1990, OFRF promotes organic champions in Congress, integrates organic



farming in agricultural universities, provides research that is responsive to organic farmers' needs, and partners with organizations to secure the connection between organic farming and a healthy planet. Headquartered in Santa Cruz, California, with offices in Washington, D.C., OFRF knows that when an organic farmer succeeds, we all thrive.

Acknowledgments

The origin of **Organic Farming for Health & Prosperity** came as a suggestion of Thomas Dobbs, Professor Emeritus of Economics, South Dakota State University. Dr. Dobbs requested that Organic Farming Research Foundation issue a comprehensive report on the "multifunctionality" of organic agriculture in the United States. The seed was planted and nurtured by OFRF Board of Directors, staff, and the organic community. It is dedicated to the success of the American organic family farmer.

This report was made possible with the support of the Columbia Foundation, the Clif Bar Family Foundation, Organic Valley's Farmers Advocating for Organics fund, Clarence E. Heller Charitable Foundation, Gaia Fund, Newman's Own Foundation, Wallace Genetic Foundation, and The Blooming Prairie Foundation.

An experienced and insightful Advisory Panel helped guide the project. We are grateful to the following Advisory Panel members for their commitment and sage advice:

George Boody, Land Stewardship Project; Cornelia Flora, Charles F. Curtiss Distinguished Professor of Sociology and Agriculture and Life Sciences, Iowa State University; Kim Haddow, Haddow Communications; Elysa Hammond, Director of Environmental Stewardship, Clif Bar and Company; Ann Thrupp, Manager of Sustainability and Organic Development, Fetzer / Bonterra Vineyards. *A brilliant team of reviewers provided invaluable input on the text. We are grateful to the following reviewers for sharing their time and expertise:*

Brian Baker, Senior Fellow, Organic Center; Chuck Benbrook, Chief Scientist, Organic Center; Eliav Bitan, Agriculture Advisor, National Wildlife Federation; Cynthia L. Connolly, President, Monticello Vineyard and Winery; Thomas Dobbs, Professor Emeritus of Economics, South Dakota State University; Sandra Marquardt, President, On The Mark Public Relations; Jim Riddle, Organic Outreach Coordinator, University of Minnesota Southwest Research and Outreach Center; Michael Sligh, Just Foods Program Director, RAFI-USA; Sieg Snapp, Soils and Cropping Systems Ecologist, Kellogg Biological Station, and Professor, Department of Crop and Soil Sciences, Michigan State University; Doug Collins, PhD, Washington State University; Catherine Greene, USDA, Agricultural Economist; Maureen Wilmot, Executive Director, Organic Farming Research Foundation.



About the Authors

Carolyn Dimitri, Ph.D., is Research Associate and Professor of Food Studies at New York University. Prior to joining the Food Studies faculty, she worked as a senior economist at the Economic Research Service of the U.S. Department of Agriculture for 12 years. Along with collaborators, she obtained several grants to conduct national surveys of certified organic handlers and food retailers to study firm behavior regarding marketing and procurement practices. Dr. Dimitri has an established record of economic research on organic markets, distribution of organic products, and consumers of organic products. Her professional service includes participating on grant review panels and peer reviewing many academic articles. Dr. Dimitri earned her Ph.D. in Agricultural and Natural Resource Economics from the University of Maryland, College Park, and a B.A. in Economics from the University at Buffalo.
Loni Kemp has been engaged in policy work in the non-profit world for 30 years and has been an independent agriculture and conservation policy consultant for the past four years. Her expertise is in sustainable agriculture, environmental benefits, conservation programs, water quality, renewable energy, climate change, and related topics. Her primary focus for over a decade has been the Conservation Stewardship Program, the first whole-farm, working lands program explicitly designed to reward the multiple benefits of conservation. Clients of Kemp Consulting include the National Sustainable Agriculture Coalition, Natural Resources Defense Council, National Wildlife Federation, Union of Concerned Scientists, Institute for Agriculture and Trade Policy, USDA's Natural Resources Conservation Service, and several foundations. Ms. Kemp has an M.A. in Public Affairs from the University of Minnesota Humphrey Institute of Public Affairs and a B.A. in Urban Studies from Macalester College.

Jane Sooby has worked in organic and sustainable agricultural research for 20 years, the last 12 as the Research Grants Administrator for Organic Farming Research Foundation. In this role she manages OFRF's grantmaking program and serves as an information specialist on organic farming and research. She was the lead author on the 2007 OFRF publication The National Organic Research Agenda. Sooby also documents organic research, education, and extension activity throughout the entire United States land grant system. Sooby holds a B.S. in biology from New Mexico State University and an M.S. in agronomy from the University of Wyoming.

Elizabeth Sullivan has spent over 30 years working at the intersection between politics and policy, working on environmental issues, education issues and social justice issues. Most recently, she served for five years as the President of Education Voters of America, an advocacy organization dedicated to ensuring that every child in America receives an excellent public education. Previously she served as the Executive Director of the League of Conservation Voters Education Fund for seven years. From 1985 - 1995, Ms. Sullivan was the managing partner of the Campaign Design Group, a political consulting firm that was largely responsible for the 1992 Boxer and Murray Senate wins, as well as the victories of hundreds of other candidates for public offices ranging from City Council to Governor to U.S. Senate. She serves on the Boards of Directors of Ocean Champions, dedicated to electing candidates who are champions for the ocean; and Higher Heights for America, dedicated to electing more women of color to public office. Ms. Sullivan has a B.A. in Philosophy from Dickinson College, a Master's degree in Urban and Regional Planning degree from The George Washington University, and is currently pursuing a Doctor of Liberal Studies degree from Georgetown University.

Endnotes

- 1. U.S. Government Printing Office 2011
- 2. Benbrook et al. 2010
- 3. Organic Trade Association 2012a
- 4. Ibid.
- 5. Oberholtzer et al. 2005 and Organic Trade Association 2010
- 6. Organic Trade Association 2012a
- 7. National Organic Program 2012
- 8. National Agricultural Statistics Service 2010
- 9. Organic Trade Association 2012a
- 10. Dimitri and Oberholtzer 2009
- 11. Organic Trade Association 2012a
- 12. National Agricultural Statistics Service 2010
- 13. Ibid.
- 14. National Organic Program 2012
- 15. Greene et al. 2009
- 16. Diamond 2005; USDA Soil Conservation Service 1953
- 17. Lal et al. 2011
- 18. Kong et al. 2007
- 19. Mulvaney et al. 2009
- 20. Phelan et al. 1995; Phelan et al. 1996
- 21. Liu et al. 2007; Stone et al. 2004
- 22. Snapp et al. 2010; Hepperly et al. 2009; Teasdale et al. 2007; Kong et al. 2007; Glover et al. 2000; Clark et al. 1998; Drinkwater et al. 1998
- 23. Marriott and Wander 2006
- 24. Bulluck et al. 2002
- 25. Reganold et al. 2010
- 26. Liu et al. 2007
- 27. David et al. 2010
- 28. Smil 1999
- 29. Snapp et al. 2010; Kramer et al. 2006; Burger and Jackson 2004; Poudel et al. 2002; McIsaac 2001
- 30. Snapp et al. 2010
- 31. Han et al. 2009
- 32. Kramer et al. 2006
- 33. Ibid.
- 34. McSwiney et al. 2010; Pang and Letey 2000
- 35. Evanylo et al. 2008
- 36. Ibid.
- 37. Pimentel et al. 2005
- 38. Environmental Protection Agency 2009
- 39. U.S. Government Printing Office 2011
- 40. UNCCD 2008
- Drinkwater and Snapp, 2007; McSwiney et al., 2010; Kramer, et al., 2006; Burger and Jackson 2004

- 42. Oquist et al. 2007
- 43. Evanylo et al. 2008
- 44. Evanylo et al. 2008
- 45. Costanza et al. 1997
- 46. Ibid.
- 47. Losey and Vaughn 2006
- 48. U.S. Government Printing Office 2011
- 49. Ibid.
- 50. Kremen et al. 2002
- 51. Morandin and Winston 2005
- 52. Beecher et al. 2002
- 53. Jones and Sieving 2006
- 54. Miliczky et al. 2000
- 55. Ibid.
- 56. Nicholls et al. 2001
- 57. Thrupp et al. 2008
- 58. Letourneau and Goldstein 2001
- 59. Ibid.
- 60. Crowder et al. 2010
- 61. Ibid.
- 62. Ibid.
- 63. Hole et al. 2005
- 64. IPCC 2007
- 65. Ibid.
- 66. Gleick et al. 2010; Ramanathan and Xu 2010
- 67. Trenberth 2011
- 68. Karlen et al. 2006
- 69. Franzluebbers and Stuedemann 2010
- 70. Lal 2004
- Snapp et al. 2010; Reganold et al. 2010; Hepperly et al. 2009; Teasdale et al. 2007; Kong et al.2007; Liu et al. 2007; Grandy and Robertson 2007; Marriott and Wander 2006; Bulluck et al. 2002; Glover et al. 2000; Robertson et al. 2000; Clark et al.1998; Drinkwater et al. 1998
- 72. IPCC 2007
- 73. De Gryze et al. 2010; Cavigelli et al. 2009a
- 74. Cavigelli et al. 2009a
- 75. Teasdale et al. 2007
- 76. Data from Cavigelli et al. 2009a
- 77. De Gryze et al. 2010
- 78. Pelletier et al. 2008
- 79. Benbrook 2009
- 80. Reganold et al. 2001; Pimentel et al. 2005
- 81. Gelfand et al., 2010

Organic Farming for Health & Prosperity

- 82. Pelletier et al. 2008
- 83. Baker et al. 2002
- 84. Ibid.
- 85. Curl et al. 2003
- 86. Lu et al. 2006
- 87. U.S. Dept. of Health and Human Services 2010
- 88. Ibid.
- 89. Ibid.
- 90. Dhiman et al. 1999
- 91. Mitchell et al. 2007
- 92. Wang et al. 2008
- 93. Reganold et al. 2010
- 94. Badgley et al. 2007
- 95. Ibid.
- 96. Badgley et al. 2007
- 97. Ibid.
- 98. Snapp et al. 2010; Cavigelli et al. 2008
- 99. Posner et al. 2008
- 100. Pimentel et al. 2005
- 101. Pimentel et al. 2005
- 102. Delate and Cambardella 2004
- 103. Poudel et al. 2002
- 104. Reganold et al. 2001
- 105. Porter et al. 2003
- 106. Cavigelli et al. 2008
- 107. Ibid.
- 108. Organic Trade Association 2012a
- 109. Oberholtzer et al. 2005 and Organic Trade Association 2010
- 110. Hartman Group 2010
- 111. Howard 2009
- 112. Cowan 2012
- 113. National Agricultural Statistics Service 2010
- 114. Ibid.
- 115. Oberholtzer et al. 2005
- 116. Delbridge et al. 2011
- 117. Ibid.
- 118. Ibid.
- 119. McBride and Greene 2009a
- 120. McBride and Greene 2009b
- 121. Rotz et al. 2007
- 122. Cavigelli et al. 2009b
- 123. Chavas et al. 2009; Archer et al. 2007; Pimentel et al. 2005; Smith et al. 2004; Delate et al. 2003; Reganold et al. 2001; Clark et al. 1999
- 124. Smith et al. 2011

- 125. National Agricultural Statistics Service 2010
- 126. Organic Trade Association 2012a
- 127. Organic Trade Association 2011
- 128. Dimitri 2010
- 129. Dimitri 2010
- 130. Santos and Escalante 2010
- 131. Santos and Escalante 2010
- 132. Brumfield et al. 2000
- 133. Organic Trade Association 2012b
- 134. Reganold et al. 2011; Jackson et al. 2010; Hoode
- 135. Kroeger and Casey 2007 s et al. 2010; Robertson et al. 2008; Boody et al. 2005
- 136. Greene and Smith 2010
- 137. Dimitri and Oberholtzer 2005
- 138. Sooby et al. 2007
- 139. Sooby and Zhou 2009
- 140. Treadwell et al. 2007
- 141. Shennan 2008
- 142. Cavigelli et al. 2008
- 143. Crowder et al. 2010
- 144. Phelan et al. 1995, 1996
- 145. Liu et al. 2007; Stone et al. 2004
- 146. See e.g. Menalled et al. 2001, Poudel et al. 2002, Posner et al. 2008, Cavigelli et al. 2008
- 147. Liebman et al. 2001
- 148. Smith et al. 2009
- 149. Anderson 2010
- 150. Tank et al. 2010.
- 151. Liebig et al. 2005
- 152. Liebig et al. 2005
- 153. Wander and Nissen 2004
- 154. Greenhouse Gas Working Group 2010
- 155. Liebig et al. 2005
- 156. Cavigelli and Thien 2003; Daroub et al. 2001
- 157. Teboh and Franzen 2011
- 158. Baker et al. 2002



ofrf.org Printed on recycled paper with soy-based inks